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Strategic Report 
 

Incorporation 
Peoplecert Wisdom Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the United Kingdom on 1 June 2021 as a private 
limited liability company. On 22 July 2021, the Company subscribed for one ordinary share of EUR 1.00 in the capital 
of PeopleCert International Limited at a subscription price of GB£8,343. On 23 July 2021, Peoplecert Holdings UK 
(ultimate parent company of Peoplecert Group) transferred 100% of the shares it held in Peoplecert International 
Limited (of total nominal value EUR 10,000) to the Company and the latter obtained at that date the control of 
Peoplecert International Limited and its subgroup. On 28 July 2021, the Company subscribed for one ordinary share 
of EUR 1.00 in the capital of Peoplecert International Limited at a subscription price of GB£140,000,000 in connection 
with a financing transaction for the acquisition of Axelos Limited. PeopleCert Wisdom Limited is also the direct 100% 
shareholder of PeopleCert Wisdom Issuer Plc, a special purpose finance company, which was incorporated on 12 July 
2021 for the purposes of a bond offering (described below in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements under 
Note 15) and which has no independent business operations. On 31 December 2021, PeopleCert Wisdom Limited 
became the direct owner of Axelos Limited (which had previously been owned by PeopleCert International Limited). 
 

About PeopleCert  
Established in 2000, PeopleCert is a global leader in assessment and certification of professional skills, partnering with 
multinational organisations and government bodies for the development and delivery of exams.  

Principal activities and nature of operations of the Group 
The principal activities of the Group, which are similar to previous years but have evolved as a result of the Axelos 
acquisition in 2021, are the design, development, management, control and support of certification programs for 
persons in Business, IT and Languages; the ownership and management of associated intellectual property including 
publications; and the design, development and assessment of automated examination systems. The subsidiaries of 
the group are: 

- PeopleCert Wisdom Limited, PeopleCert Wisdom Holdings Limited and PeopleCert Wisdom Issuer Plc which 
were established in 2021 for the purposes of the Axelos acquisition; the transformational acquisition of Axelos 
Limited was completed on 29 July 2021 for GB£380,000,000; 

- PeopleCert International Limited which was incorporated in Cyprus in 2005; PeopleCert International Limited 
has a branch in Dubai which was incorporated during 2014 and a branch in Greece incorporated during 2022; 

- PeopleCert UK Ltd which was incorporated in the UK in 2014; 

- PeopleCert Qualifications Ltd which was incorporated in the UK in 2015 and is regulated by the Office of 
Qualifications and Examination Regulation in England (Ofqual) and Qualification Wales; 

- Axelos Limited, a joint venture company created in 2013 to manage, develop and grow the portfolio of global 
best practice methodologies in project, program and portfolio management, and IT and digitally enabled 
services which was acquired by the Group on 29 July 2021; 

- PeopleCert Hellas S.A. which was incorporated in Greece in 2007 and since 2013 operates a portfolio of 
certification programs; 

- PeopleCert Global Services S.A. which was incorporated in Greece in 2013 and mainly provides supporting 
services to the Group subsidiaries; 

- PeopleCert Education S.A. which was incorporated in Greece in 2017 and offers training programs;  

- PeopleCert Pei Si Te Assessment Technology Co. Ltd which was incorporated in China in 2020 to deliver 
and support services in China;  

- PeopleCert Personel Belgelendirme A.S. which was incorporated in Turkey in 2002 to support the local 
business; 

- PeopleCert US LLC, which resulted from the merger in 2024 of DevOps Institute Inc., a subsidiary 
incorporated in the US state of Delaware and acquired by the Group in 2023, with International Association 
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For Six Sigma Certification (IASSC) LLC, an Arizona limited liability company, which was acquired by the 
Group in 2020; IASSC was the surviving entity, and was renamed PeopleCert US LLC and redomiciled to 
Delaware; 

- DPC LanguageCert India Private Ltd. (previously known as DP Cube Learning And Skills Private Ltd.) 
incorporated in India, acquired by the Group in 2024; 

- PeopleCert Switzerland Holding AG and PeopleCert Switzerland AG, incorporated in Switzerland in 2024, to 
serve as IP holding companies.  

 
Product portfolio 

The Group offers a comprehensive product portfolio featuring over 700 certifications encompassing both owned and 
third-party exam products. These certifications span various domains including: 

 

Business & IT (“B&IT”) 

• IT Governance & Service Management (ITIL, COBIT, Lean IT, Service Desk Institute, etc.) 

• DevOps (DevOps Institute, AI Ops, Site Reliability Engineering, Observability, Value Stream 
Management, etc.) 

• Project, Program & Portfolio Management (PRINCE2, PRINCE2 Agile, Scrum, Managing Successful 
Programmes, Management of Portfolios, etc.)  

• Data Science (PeopleCert Data Science Certification Suite) 

• Business Management & Transformation (Lean Six Sigma, AgileShift, etc.)  

• Change, Risk and Benefits Management (Management of Risk, Management of Value, RESILIA etc.)  

• Software Development & Testing (Business Analysis, Software Testing, Software Quality, etc) 

• Basic IT skills (ECDL)  

 

LanguageCert 

• English Language Skills 

• Spanish Language Skills 

• Ancient Greek 

 

The Group maintains a continuous investment strategy aimed at updating and enriching its product portfolio for global 
delivery. 

Additionally, the Group offers a Vendor Accreditation program that certifies ITSM software vendors. This program 
identifies accredited tool vendors (ATV) that develop ITSM tools in accordance with ITIL best practices. PeopleCert's 
accreditation is the sole authoritative proof that a software aligns with ITIL standards and its vendor ensures qualified 
personnel are involved in its creation, development, and deployment. This accreditation serves as an independent, 
expert endorsement for ITSM products, aiding end-customers and consulting firms in making informed, risk-reduced 
tool selections. Over 25 manufacturers are currently accredited, including global market leaders such as BMC, 
Atlassian and OpenText. 

 

Global presence  

Our product offerings are available in over 200 countries through our extensive partner network and direct website 
sales, offered in up to 25 languages. Key markets include the USA, India, China, United Kingdom, Germany, Australia, 
Poland, Netherlands, Greece, Norway, Ireland, France, Mexico, Italy, Canada, and Singapore. The partner network is 
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consistently expanding and currently comprises over 2,000 Accredited Training Organizations worldwide. Additionally, 
strategic partnerships in the language testing domain have been established catering to global organizations and 
government agencies. 

 

Commitment to quality 

The Group embraces industry’s best practice which is objectively demonstrated by quality credentials awarded and 
regularly audited by independent authorities including:  

Accreditations by the National Hellenic Accreditation System: 

• ISO 17024 Certification of Persons (since 2006) 

 

Certifications by LRQA: 

• ISO 9001 Quality Management (since 2003)  

• ISO 10002 Customer Satisfaction and Complaints Handling (since 2006)  

• ISO 14001 Environmental Management (since 2006)  

• ISO 27001 Information & Data Security (since 2008)  

• ISO 23988 Use of IT in the delivery of assessments (since 2013)  

• ISO 22301 Business Continuity (since 2015) 

 

Certifications by IASME: 

• Cyber Essential Scheme 

 

Certifications by PCI DSS Compliance Service: 

• Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard 

 

Recognition – LanguageCert  

The Languages division (branded as LanguageCert) operates under strict regulatory frameworks and is regulated by:  

• England - Ofqual: The Office of Qualifications and Examinations Regulation (Ofqual)  
• Wales - Qualifications Wales  

LanguageCert provides a comprehensive suite of qualifications for English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL), 
including: 

• LanguageCert Academic 
• LanguageCert General 
• LanguageCert International ESOL  
• LanguageCert Test of English 
• LanguageCert ESOL Young Learners 

LanguageCert manages its exams in accordance with relevant industry standards such as the Common European 
Framework of Reference for Languages (CEFR), regulatory requirements (e.g., Ofqual and Qualifications Wales), and 
contractual obligations. These all combine to ensure the integrity of our examination system.  

Recognised qualifications  

LanguageCert ESOL qualifications have been recognised by: 
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- England: Ofqual 

- Wales: Qualifications Wales 

- United Kingdom: Home Office Visas & Immigration  

- Czech Republic: Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports   

- France: France Compétences 

- Greece: ASEP (Supreme Council for Civil Personnel Selection)  

- Hungary: Accreditation Board for Foreign Language Examinations  

- Ireland: Ministry of Justice, Study Visas, ILEP 

- Latvia: Ministry of Education and Science 

- Libya: Ministry of Education, Department of Foreign Education. 

- Netherlands: National Commission Code of Conduct 

- New Zealand: New Zealand Qualifications Authority (NZQA) 

- Romania: Romanian Ministry of National Education and Scientific Research 

- Spain:  

o ACLES (Association of Language Centers in Higher Education)   

o CRUE Universidades Espanolas 

o Autonomous regions of: Andalucia, Aragon, Asturias, Basque Country, Canary Islands, Cantabria, 
Castilla-La Mancha, Catalonia, Extremadura, Galicia, La Rioja, Madrid, Murcia, and Navarra 

- Thailand:  

o Office of the Basic Education Commission Ministry of Education 

o Ministry of Higher Education, Science, Research and Innovation 

- Vietnam:  Ministry of Education & Training 

 

Further information is available online at www.languagecert.org 

UKVI – Secure English Language Tests 

In 2019, PeopleCert was awarded a contract expiring in November 2026 with UK Visas and Immigration (UKVI), to 
deliver official UK Secure English Language Tests (SELTs) in the UK and across the rest of the world. UKVI, part of 
the UK Home Office, runs the UK’s visa service, managing around 3 million applications a year from overseas nationals. 
Hundreds of thousands of Secure English Language Tests (SELTs) are delivered each year by LanguageCert and its 
competitors to individuals seeking to apply for a visa to study, work, visit or join family in the UK, where evidence of 
English language ability at a specific level is required.  

Each of LanguageCert’s Home Office approved SELT exams has been independently assessed by the UK 
government’s designated authority UK Ecctis to ensure they accurately measure English language ability at the level 
required by UKVI. LanguageCert offers SELTs either in all four skills Listening, Reading, Writing and Speaking, or the 
two skills of Speaking and Listening. SELTs are delivered globally through the PeopleCert test centre network, with 
frequent exam dates and prompt delivery of exam results. The Home Office has approved three LanguageCert 
qualifications for UKVI use: 

- LanguageCert Academic 
- LanguageCert General 
- LanguageCert International ESOL. 

 

 

 

http://www.languagecert.org/
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Assessment technology  

The Group's business is conducted using a proprietary, state-of-the-art exam management and delivery platform, 
accommodating all common exam delivery and supervision methods: 

- Computer Based Testing (CBT)  

- Paper Based Testing (PBT)  

- Classroom Invigilator – On-site supervision both for CBT and PBT exams 

- Online proctoring – Supervision over webcam for CBT exams 

The diversity of exam delivery options and the proprietary technology to support these are a significant differentiator 
for the Group, enabling it to further grow significantly in the coming years. The Group’s IT infrastructure is cloud-based, 
supporting reliable business continuity.   

Centralised 24/7/365 operation  

PeopleCert operates a centralised, round-the-clock service, ensuring efficient, secure and unified customer experience. 
This is supported through a multilingual and highly trained Customer Service team, available 24/7/365. The team 
currently serves customers worldwide in 13 languages and can be reached via email, chat and telephone, in both local 
rate and toll-free numbers.  

Sustainability policy 

PeopleCert has a strong sustainability policy in place to ensure that its operations have minimal impact on the 
environment and natural resources. We comply with, and exceed where possible, all applicable legislation, regulations 
and codes of practice aiming at reducing emissions, resource consumption and waste. To this end we are ISO 
14001:2015 certified to ensure that our policy is compliant with all current industry environmental standards. Our 
business decisions take into consideration sustainability parameters, and we actively educate all employees on good 
practices to support the company’s overall sustainability policy. Among other activities, we regularly monitor and 
produce reports on the annual power, paper and water consumption as well as on the purchased / recycled paper ratio 
in order to continuously achieve better results. We recycle all exam related paper supply (90% of total consumption), 
minimising the footprint of the Group’s core product and we are always looking to expand the range of items for waste 
management. Our procurement department ensures that our suppliers and contractors share our environmental 
objectives. 

Future outlook  

The Group intends to maintain the growth pace of the prior years through: 

- Organic growth of existing exam products  

- Product portfolio expansion  

- Acquisitions 

The Group will continue its significant investment in its owned Business & IT and Language qualifications portfolios, 
through product development and subsequent recognition from regulatory authorities from around the world.  

Following the successful acquisition of Axelos in 2021, through which PeopleCert became the first “unicorn” company 
of Greek origin, the Group has made a series of smaller acquisitions.  

In 2022, the Group acquired Quality Assurance Institute (QAI) certifications in Business Analysis, Software Testing and 
Software Quality (acquisition of IP licenses). 

On 17 February 2023, the Group acquired DevOps Institute, a global learning community designed to empower IT 
professionals to make the most of DevOps. DevOps Institute is a community of over 45,000 IT professionals, active in 
160 countries and comprising a network of 150 authorised partners worldwide. It empowers the people who power IT 
and helps them develop both the professional and personal expertise to make the most of DevOps in their business 
and career. DevOps Institute is an organisation that provides deep practical knowledge, a welcoming professional 
network, innovative research, respected certification programs and unique insider events. The acquisition fully 
complements PeopleCert’s existing IT & Business certifications portfolio and follows a streak of recent key acquisitions 
in the certification industry for the company. It further solidifies PeopleCert’s position as a global IP-house of best-
practice frameworks and certifications, which continues its path of growth, organically and through acquisitions.  

In March 2024, the Group acquired DP Cube Learning and Skills, a distinguished educational services provider based 
in India, specializing in the English language sector. This strategic move was set to significantly strengthen the 
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LanguageCert brand’s presence in Asia, particularly across India and the surrounding region, marking a significant 
milestone in the achievement of the strategic goals of the Group. Following the acquisition, DP Cube Learning and 
Skills was renamed to DPC LanguageCert India. 

In 2024, the Group enhanced the LanguageCert portfolio through the acquisition of CATs. 

Review of current position, future developments and performance of the Group's business 
The Group's development to date, financial results and position, as presented in the Consolidated Financial 
Statements, are considered satisfactory. 
 

Financial Key Performance indicators 

 

The Group has a strong performance and financial position both in prior and in current year, as also evidenced by the 
ratios above. 

Research and development 

Operating in a competitive global market system, the Group adapts to the rapidly changing environment by investing 
in research and development activities that improve performance, increase profitability, and promote its core values of 
innovation and quality. The Group owns internally generated intangible assets comprising mainly of computer software, 
arising from its e-business development, and intellectual property rights (copyright and trademark). 

Principal risks and uncertainties 
The principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group are disclosed in note 37 of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 

Use of financial instruments by the Group 
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk, currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk from the financial instruments it 
holds. 

1 January to 31 
December 2024

1 January to 31 
December 2023

GB£ GB£
A. Profitability Ratios

Gross margin
Gross Profit to Revenue             94,220,541               91,736,461 

          120,927,652             120,229,064 
Net margin
Profit / ( loss) before tax to Revenue 57,999,018 42,918,117

120,927,652 120,229,064

B. Solvency Ratios

Total Debt to Equity Ratio
Total Liabilities to Total Equity 284,149,636 295,411,567

235,114,310 197,536,378
Proprietary Ratio
Total Equity to Total Assets 235,114,310 197,536,378

519,263,947 492,947,945

C. Liquidity Ratios

Working Capital Ratio
Current assets to Current Liabilities 126,898,180 93,263,700

24,561,932 20,938,727
Cash ratio
Cash to Current liabilities 106,148,664 78,284,655

24,561,932 20,938,727

= 76.3%= 77.9%

48.0%= = 35.7%

= 1.2 = 1.5

= 0.5 = 0.4

= 5.2 = 4.5

= 4.3 = 3.7
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Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. 
The Group's income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates as the 
Group has no significant interest-bearing assets. The Group is not currently exposed to interest rate risk given the 
fixed-interest nature of its borrowings. The Group has issued a 5-year senior secured bond with fixed interest rate of 
5.75%. The Group's Management monitors the interest rate fluctuations on a continuous basis and acts accordingly. 
 
Currency risk 
Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. 
Currency risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognized assets and liabilities are denominated in a 
currency that is not the Group’s functional currency. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various 
currency exposures primarily with respect to the US Dollar, the Euro, the Australian Dollar and the Japanese Yen. The 
Group’s Board of Directors monitors the exchange rate fluctuations on a continuous basis and acts accordingly. 

Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to 
meet an obligation. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, contractual cash flows of debt investments 
carried at amortised cost, at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and at fair value through profit 
or loss (FVTPL) and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to wholesale and retail 
customers, including outstanding receivables and contract assets as well as lease receivables. Further, credit risk 
arises from financial guarantees and credit related commitments. 

Credit risk is managed on a Group basis. For banks and financial institutions, the Group has established policies 
whereby most bank balances are held with independently rated parties. 

If wholesale customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, 
Management assesses the credit quality of the customer, considering its financial position, experience, and other 
factors. Individual credit limits and credit terms are set based on the credit quality of the customer in accordance with 
limits set by the Board of Directors. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored. Sales to retail customers are 
settled in cash or using major credit cards. 

The Group has a strategic long-term partnership with an established global player in Credit Insurance, to properly 
manage and reduce the credit risk exposure. 

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that arises when the maturity of assets and liabilities do not match. An unmatched position 
potentially enhances profitability but can also increase the risk of losses. The Group has procedures with the objective 
of minimising such losses such as maintaining sufficient cash and other highly liquid current assets and by having 
available an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. 

Operating environment of the Group 
Any significant events that relate to the operating environment of the Group are described in note 1 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 
 
 
By order of the Board of Directors, 
 
 
 
 
Anastasios Byron Nicolaides 
Director 
 
London, 23 April 2025 
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Directors’ Report 
 

The Directors present their report together with the audited Financial Statements of the Group for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2024. 

Result of the year 

Current year results reflect a strong performance across the Group as well as the efforts on cost containment and 
competitiveness. Given the current volatile economic environment, potential risks to the industry continue to be closely 
monitored but developments in the period under review were satisfactory. The Group’s financial results and position 
as presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements is tracking positively, as supported by the key parameters 
shown below: 

 

Total Revenue in 2024 grew 0.6% to GB£120.9 million compared to GB£120.2 million last year. The B&IT revenue 
stream increased by 1.6%, while the Language Qualifications revenue stream dropped by 7.7%. 

Gross margin (Gross profit to Revenue) remains high at 77.9% deriving mainly from the implementation of synergies, 
such as the content and exam delivery optimization, and general cost containment efforts. 

The increase in net margin from 35.7% in 2023 to 48.0% in 2024 is primarily driven by lower net financial costs (net 
financial income in 2024 of GB£6.9 million vs net financial cost in 2023 of GB£9.3 million) due to a favorable change 
in foreign exchange rates. 

Board of Directors 
The directors of the Group in office at the date of this report are: 

 Anastasios Byron Nicolaides 
 Graham John Shaw 
 Michael Milanovic 
  

 

Dividends 
On 31 January 2024, the Company declared in the General Meeting the payment of interim dividends of GB£6,700,000. 
On 10 March 2025, the Board of Directors of the Company approved payment of a final 2024 dividend of £5,350,000. 
The dividend is being paid in connection with a dividend of the same amount by the indirect parent company, 
PeopleCert Holdings UK Limited (“PCHUK”), which was approved by the Board of PCHUK on 19 December 2024. For 
further details refer also to note 32. 

Share capital 
There has been no change in the ownership during the year under review. The authorised share capital of the Company 
consists of 4 ordinary shares of £1 each. 

Human Rights 
The Group policy is to respect international human rights principles and especially among others the principles of: 

 equal treatment and equal opportunities for all employees, diversity and the avoidance of child and forced labour.  

Ensuring human rights is a key issue for the Group with a view to ensuring parity, equal treatment of every customer, 
partner and employee, prevention of any kind of racist behaviour, and proper working conditions and compliance with 
hygiene and safety rules with the aim of creating and ensuring a safe working environment. 

1 January to 31 
December 2024

1 January to 31 
December 2023

GB£ GB£
Gross margin
Gross Profit to Revenue             94,220,541               91,736,461 

          120,927,652             120,229,064 
Net margin
Profit / ( loss) before tax to Revenue 57,999,018 42,918,117

120,927,652 120,229,064

= 76.3%= 77.9%

48.0%= = 35.7%
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Engagement with suppliers, customers, and others in a business relationship with the Group 
The ultimate mission of the Group is to develop and deliver globally, best-in-class exam and certification programs that 
enhance the lives and careers of the candidates. To achieve this, we have set as priority to engage with all stakeholders 
to better inform them of our activities and to create equal opportunities and supportive outcomes for them. 

Our customers are of focal interest, thereby, we constantly try to deliver operational and business excellence by 
building relationships based on trust, reliability, and quality.  

Our employees are valued assets and shape how we run the business. We have processes in place to ensure that 
their initiatives and talents are valued, that any inequalities or injustice are avoided while we invest in their continuous 
professional development through various trainings and educational opportunities.  

Our investors encompass both our shareholders and bondholders and any other party interested in the Group’s 
sustainability and success. The Board has the opportunity through scheduled meetings on a timely manner to engage 
with investors on the business’ progress and evolution and receive feedback on the results. 

Our suppliers share our values and our objective to establish and maintain solid-lasting partnerships that will contribute 
to the Group’s long-term success. The Group focuses on the quality, service provision, availability, and costs of its 
suppliers with regular reviews. 

Statement of corporate governance arrangements 
A talented team of professionals with proven expertise and outstanding performance in their respective fields move 
the company towards achieving its vision through insightful leadership and commitment to its core values. 

The Board has adopted a system of rules, practices, and processes that constitute the framework for attaining the 
Group’s objectives and managing corporate behaviour. For the Group, it is crucial to demonstrate good corporate 
citizenship through sound corporate governance practices with a view to promoting transparency, independence, 
fairness, accountability, responsibility, discipline, and social responsibility. 

Greenhouse gas emissions and energy consumption 
The Group carries out its activities in a way that ensures the protection of the environment. It has integrated appropriate 
procedures in its activities, operating with a sense of responsibility towards the environment. The Group itself has no 
manufacturing production and consequently has a lower impact on the environment. 

Political contributions 
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries made any disclosable political donations or incurred any disclosable 
political expenditure during the year. 

Events after the reporting period 
Any significant events that occurred after the end of the reporting period are described in note 39 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 

Independent Auditors 
For the fiscal year of 2024 the Group appointed KPMG as independent auditors.   

Disclosure of information to auditor 
The directors who held office at the date of approval of this directors’ report confirm that, so far as they are each aware, 
there is no relevant audit information of which the Group’s auditor is unaware; and each director has taken all the steps 
that he ought to have taken as a director to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that 
the Group’s auditor is aware of that information. 
 
By order of the Board of Directors, 
 
 
 
 
Anastasios Byron Nicolaides 
Director 
 
London, 23 April 2025 



Peoplecert Wisdom Limited 
 

12 

 

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the 
Annual Report and the Financial Statements 
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Financial Statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulation. 

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Financial Statements for each financial year. Under that law the 
Directors have prepared the Group Financial Statements in accordance with International Accounting Standards in 
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), 
as adopted by the European Union (EU). 

Under company law, Directors must not approve the Financial Statements unless they are satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing 
the Financial Statements, the Directors are required to:  

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
• state whether applicable international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the 

Companies Act 2006 and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the European 
Union (EU) have been followed for the Group Financial Statements, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the Financial Statements; 

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and 
• prepare the Financial Statements on the going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 

Group will continue in business. 

The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for 
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.  

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 
Group’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and enable 
them to ensure that the Financial Statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.  

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the company’s website. Legislation in the United 
Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of Financial Statements may differ from legislation in other 
jurisdictions.  

Directors’ confirmations  

The Directors consider that the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable, 
and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group’s position and performance, business 
model and strategy.  

Each of the Directors, whose names are listed in the Directors’ section on page 1 confirm that, to the best of their 
knowledge: 

• the Group Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting 
Standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the European Union (EU), give a true and fair view of the assets, 
liabilities, financial position and loss of the group; and  

• the Directors’ Report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the 
position of the group, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces.  

In the case of each director in office at the date the Directors’ report is approved: 
• so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the group’s auditors are unaware; 

and  
• they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a Director in order to make themselves aware 

of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Group’s auditors are aware of that information.  
 
By order of the Board of Directors, 
 
 
Anastasios Byron Nicolaides 
Director 
London, 23 April 2025 



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF PEOPLECERT WISDOM 
LIMITED   

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of PeopleCert Wisdom Limited (‘the 
Company’) and its consolidated undertakings (‘the Group’) for the period ended 31 December 2024, 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024 and the 
consolidated statements of profit and loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and 
cash flows for the period 1 January 2024 until 31 December 2024 and related notes, including the 
summary of material accounting policies set out in note 4. The financial statements have been 
prepared for the reasons and on the basis of the accounting policies set out in note 4 to the financial 
statements. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group 
financial statements is International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the 
European Union.  

In our opinion the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Group as at 31 December 2024, and its financial performance and its cashflows for the period 
then ended in accordance with the special purpose basis of preparation and accounting policies set 
out in note 4 to the financial statements.   

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.  We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council (FRC)’s Ethical Standard, 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Emphasis of matter – special purpose basis of preparation 

We draw attention to note 2 to the financial statements, which describes their basis of preparation. As 
explained in that note, the financial statements are prepared to assist the Group in complying with the 
financial reporting requirements to bondholders. As a result, the financial statements may not be 
suitable for another purpose. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.   

Conclusions relating to going concern 
The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not 
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded that the 
Group’s financial position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no 
material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over their ability to continue as a going 
concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements (“the going concern 
period”). 



In our evaluation of the directors' conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the Group and the 
Company’s business model and analysed how those risks might affect the Group and the Company’s 
financial resources or ability to continue operations over the going concern period. 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors' use of the going concern 
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to 
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue. 

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in 
outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the 
absence of reference to a material uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee that the Group 
will continue in operation. 

Detecting irregularities including fraud 
We identified the areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material 
effect on the financial statements and risks of material misstatement due to fraud, using our 
understanding of the entity's industry, regulatory environment and other external factors and inquiry 
with the directors. In addition, our risk assessment procedures included: inquiring with the directors as 
to the Group’s policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations and 
prevention and detection of fraud; inquiring whether the directors have knowledge of any actual or 
suspected non-compliance with laws or regulations or alleged fraud; inspecting the Group’s regulatory 
and legal correspondence; and reading Board minutes. 

We discussed identified laws and regulations, fraud risk factors and the need to remain alert among 
the audit team. This included communication from the group to full scope component audit teams of 
relevant laws and regulations and fraud risks identified at the Group level and request to full scope 
component audit teams to report to the Group audit team any instances of fraud that could give rise to 
a material misstatement at group. 

The Group is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including 
companies and financial reporting legislation We assessed the extent of compliance with these laws 
and regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial statement items, including 
assessing the financial statement disclosures and agreeing them to supporting documentation when 
necessary.  

The Group is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance 
could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance 
through the imposition of fines or litigation. The company, is not subject to other laws and regulations 
where the consequences of non-compliance could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in 
the financial statements. 

Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to identify non-compliance with these non-direct 
laws and regulations to inquiry of the directors and other management and inspection of regulatory 
and legal correspondence, if any. These limited procedures did not identify actual or suspected non-
compliance. 

We assessed events or conditions that could indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or 
provide an opportunity to commit fraud. As required by auditing standards, we performed procedures 
to address the risk of management override of controls.On this audit we do not believe there is a fraud 
risk related to revenue recognition.  



In response to risk of fraud, we also performed procedures including: identifying journal entries to test 
based on risk criteria and comparing the identified entries to supporting documentation; evaluating the 
business purpose of significant unusual transactions; assessing significant accounting estimates for 
bias; and assessing the disclosures in the financial statements. 

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have 
detected some material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly 
planned and performed our audit in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further 
removed non-compliance with laws and regulations (irregularities) is from the events and transactions 
reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited procedures required by 
auditing standards would identify it.  

In addition, as with any audit, there remains a higher risk of non-detection of irregularities, as these 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
controls. We are not responsible for preventing non-compliance and cannot be expected to detect 
non-compliance with all laws and regulations. 

Other information 
The directors are responsible for the other information presented in the Annual Report together with 
the consolidated financial statements. The other information comprises the information included in the 
strategic report and the directors’ report. The consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon do not comprise part of the other information. Our opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion 
or, except as explicitly stated below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our 
consolidated financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that 
work we have not identified material misstatements in the other information. 

Respective responsibilities and restrictions on use 
Responsibilities of directors for the consolidated financial statements 

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 12, the directors 
are responsible for: the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the special purpose 
basis of preparation and accounting policies as set out in note 4 to the financial statements; 
determining that the basis of preparation is acceptable in the circumstances; such internal control as 
they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud, other irregularities 
or error, and to issue an opinion in an auditor’s report.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud, other irregularities 
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated  
financial statements. 



A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s website at 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. 

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities 
Our report has been prepared for the Group solely in accordance with the terms of our engagement. It 
has been released on the basis that our report shall not be copied, referred to or disclosed, in whole 
(save for the Group’s own internal purposes) or in part, without our prior written consent. 

Our report was designed to meet the agreed requirements of the Group determined by the Group’s 
needs at the time.  Our report should not therefore be regarded as suitable to be used or relied on by 
any party wishing to acquire rights against us other than the Group for any purpose or in any context.  
Any party other than the Group who obtains access to our report or a copy and chooses to rely on our 
report (or any part of it) will do so at its own risk. To the fullest extent permitted by law, KPMG will 
accept no responsibility or liability in respect of our report to any other party. 

Keith Watt   
for and on behalf of  
KPMG  
Chartered Accountants 

1 Stokes Place 
St. Stephens’ Green 
Dublin 2  

Date: 28 April 2025 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
31 December 2024 

 

 
 
On 23 April 2025 the Board of Directors of the Company authorised these Consolidated Financial Statements for issue.  
  
....................................  
Anastasios Byron Nicolaides  
Director  

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

Note GB£ GB£
ASSETS

Non current assets
Property, plant and equipment 8 6,985,323                5,623,042                
Right of use assets 9 3,483,133                4,275,030                
Intangible assets 10 59,758,343              67,959,938              
Goodwill 10 320,981,238            320,855,473            
Other investments 11 457,101                   257,981                   
Other assets 459,795                   374,818                   
Deferred tax assets 19 240,834                   337,962                   

392,365,767            399,684,244            
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 12 17,319,643              14,497,631              
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 12.1 3,110,130                -                          
Inventory 13 228,947                   260,288                   
Current tax assets 90,795                     221,126                   
Cash and cash equivalents 14 106,148,664            78,284,655              

126,898,180            93,263,700              
Total assets 519,263,947            492,947,945            

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity
Share capital 15 4                              4                              
Share premium 15 140,058,339            140,058,339            
Other reserves 16 (2,918,917)              6,183,980                
Retained earnings 97,974,885              51,294,055              
Total equity 235,114,310            197,536,378            

Non current liabilities
Borrowings 17 248,756,219            260,710,872            
Lease liabilities 18 2,815,830                3,476,008                
Deferred tax liabilities 19 7,859,918                9,666,431                
Other non-current liabilities 35 5,788                       505,894                   
Employee benefits 29 149,949                   113,635                   

259,587,704            274,472,840            
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 20 10,498,768              10,715,217              
Deferred income 21 3,479,326                2,970,367                
Borrowings 17 4,244,170                4,423,880                
Lease liabilities 18 924,738                   1,000,788                
Current tax liabilities 22 5,414,930                1,828,475                

24,561,932              20,938,727              
Total liabilities 284,149,636            295,411,567            
Total equity and liabilities 519,263,947            492,947,945            
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
31 December 2024 
 
 

 

 

* Refer to Note 38 

 

1 January to 31 
December 2024

1 January to 31 
December 2023

Restated*
Note GB£ GB£

Revenue 23 120,927,652           120,229,064           
Cost of sales 24 (26,707,111)            (28,492,603)            
Gross profit 94,220,541             91,736,461             

Other income 25 102,742                  87,921                    
Selling and distribution expenses 26 (18,147,820)            (17,887,397)            
Administration expenses 27 (21,839,697)            (21,574,407)            
Other expenses 34 (3,210,280)              (142,172)                 
Operating profit 51,125,485             52,220,406             

Finance income 30 22,967,468             7,365,964               
Finance costs 30 (16,093,934)            (16,668,253)            
Net finance costs 6,873,534               (9,302,289)              
Profit before tax 57,999,018             42,918,117             

Income Tax expense 31 (4,618,188)              742,892                  
Profit for the year 53,380,830             43,661,009             

Other comprehensive income/(loss)

Items that will not be classified to profit or loss:
Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plan 29 1,138                      6,910                      
Income taxes of items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 19 (250)                        (1,520)                     

887                         5,389                      
Items that may be classified subsequently to profit or loss:
Foreign Operations - foreign currency translation differences 16 (9,103,785)              (3,241,759)              
Other comprehensive loss for the year (9,102,897)              (3,236,370)              

Total comprehensive income for the year 44,277,933             40,424,640             
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity  
31 December 2024  
 
 

 
 

Share capital Share premium Other reserves Retained 
earnings

Total

GB£ GB£ GB£ GB£ GB£

Balance at 1 January 2023 4                            140,058,339          9,420,350              16,133,045            165,611,738          

Comprehensive income
Net profit for the year -                         -                         -                         43,661,009            43,661,009            
Translation reserve (other comprehensive income) -                         -                         (3,241,759)             -                         (3,241,759)             
Other comprehensive income -                         -                         5,389                     -                         5,389                     
Total comprehensive income for the year -                         -                         (3,236,370)             43,661,009            40,424,639            

Transactions with owners of the Group
Dividends -                         -                         -                         (8,500,000)             (8,500,000)             
Total transactions with owners of the Group -                         -                         -                         (8,500,000)             (8,500,000)             

Balance at 31 December 2023 / 1 January 2024 4                            140,058,339          6,183,980              51,294,055            197,536,378          

Comprehensive income
Net profit for the year -                         -                         -                         53,380,830            53,380,830            
Translation reserve (other comprehensive income) -                         -                         (9,103,785)             -                         (9,103,785)             
Other comprehensive income -                         -                         887                        -                         887                        
Total comprehensive income for the year -                         -                         (9,102,897)             53,380,830            44,277,933            

Transactions with owners of the Group
Dividends -                         -                         -                         (6,700,000)             (6,700,000)             
Total transactions with owners of the Company -                         -                         -                         (6,700,000)             (6,700,000)             

Balance at 31 December 2024 4                            140,058,339          (2,918,917)             97,974,885            235,114,310          



Peoplecert Wisdom Ltd 
 

20 

 

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement  
31 December 2024 
 
 

 

 

 

 

2024 2023
Note GB£ GB£

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit / (Loss) before tax 57,999,019        42,918,118       
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 8,9 1,884,310          1,708,858         
Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses 30 (19,783,438)       (6,704,200)        
Provision for defined benefit obligation 29 63,786               109,937            
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through 
profit and loss 12.1 (209,283)            -                    
Net interest expense 30 12,909,904        16,006,489       
Amortisation 10 13,641,466        13,109,336       

66,505,765        67,148,539       
Changes in:
Inventories 19,403               (63,977)             
Trade and other receivables (12,072,674)       454,296            
Trade and other payables 8,086,854          2,111,918         
Deferred income 628,474             (451,369)           
Defined benefits obligations paid 29 (23,622)              (89,777)             
Other assets (101,302)            34,116              
Cash generated from operating activities 63,042,898        69,143,745       
Income taxes paid (2,610,789)         (5,459,893)        
Net cash from operating activities 60,432,109        63,683,851       

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of intangible assets 10 (5,679,002)         (5,029,046)        
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 8 (2,645,212)         (2,690,562)        
Acquisition of other investments 11 (215,547)            (257,981)           
Interest received 1,786,478          -                    
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 7 (264,733)            (3,763,581)        
Net cash used in investing activities (7,018,016)         (11,741,170)      

Cash flows from financing activities
Payment of leases liabilities (1,105,120)         (1,088,053)        
Interest paid (14,647,788)       (15,785,083)      
Dividends paid 32 (6,700,000)         (7,350,000)        
Net cash used in financing activities (22,452,908)       (24,223,137)      
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 30,961,187        27,719,545       
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 78,284,655        51,433,660       
Effect of movements in exchange rates on cash held (3,097,177)         (868,550)           
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 14 106,148,664      78,284,655       
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
31 December 2024

 

1. Incorporation and principal activities  

Country of incorporation 

Peoplecert Wisdom Limited (the ''Company'') was incorporated in the United Kingdom on 1 June 2021 as a private 
limited liability company.  The registered number is 13430992 and its registered office is at 192 Sloane Street, London, 
SW1X 9QX, United Kingdom. 

The Company acquired control of PeopleCert International Limited and its Group as at 23 July 2021.  

These Group Financial Statements have been prepared only for reporting requirements of bondholders (note 17) and 
not for statutory purposes. 

Principal activities 

The principal activities of the Group, which are similar to last year are the design, development, management, control 
and support of certification programs for persons in Business, IT and Languages; the ownership and management of 
associated intellectual property including publications; and the design, development and assessment of automated 
examination systems. 

2. Basis of preparation 

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the European Union (EU). 

The accounting policies set out below, unless otherwise stated, have been applied consistently to all periods presented 
in these Group Financial Statements. 

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on an accrual basis (other than for cash flow information) 
using the significant accounting policies and measurement bases and also on a going concern assumption. 

Judgements made by the Directors, in the application of these accounting policies that have significant effect on the 
Financial Statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in Note 
6. 

3. Going concern basis of accounting 

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group generated a net profit of GB£53,380,830 (2023: GB£43,661,009) 
and had positive net assets of GB£235,114,310 at the year-end (31 December 2023: GB£197,536,378), while current 
assets exceeded current liabilities by GB£102,336,248. Management are currently considering a number of options 
regarding the Loan Notes which mature in September 2026. 

Based on the above, the Group has a healthy financial position and strong performance. The Directors have 
determined that the going concern basis of preparation remains appropriate. 

4. Material accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these Consolidated Financial Statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented in these Consolidated Financial 
Statements unless otherwise stated.  

Basis of consolidation 

The Company has subsidiary undertakings for which IFRS 10 requires Consolidated Financial Statements to be 
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prepared. The Consolidated Financial Statements incorporate the Financial Statements of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to 
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over 
the investee. 

Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, 
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over 
the entity. In assessing control, the Group takes into consideration potential voting rights. The acquisition date is the 
date on which control is transferred to the acquirer. The Financial Statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.  

Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, 
are eliminated. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investees are eliminated against the 
investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as 
unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment. 

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control of a subsidiary, are accounted for as 
transactions with the owners (i.e. as equity transactions). The difference between the fair value of any consideration 
and the resulting change in the non-controlling interests' share of the net assets of that subsidiary, in recorded in equity. 

Business combinations 

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date 
on which control is transferred to the Group. The consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at 
fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, 
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in 
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at 
the acquisition date, except that: 
• deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are 

recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits 
respectively; 

• liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based 
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the 
acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date; and 

• assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets 
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard. 
 

For business combinations with acquisition dates on or after current period, the Group has determined whether a 
particular set of activities and assets is a business by assessing whether the set of assets and activities acquired 
includes, at a minimum, an input and substantive process and whether the acquired set has the ability to produce 
outputs. The Group has an option to apply a 'concentration test' that permits a simplified assessment of whether an 
acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. This election can be applied on a transaction-by-transaction 
basis. The optional concentration test is met if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is 
concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets. 
 
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) 
over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after 
reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the 
fair value of the acquirer's previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain. 
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Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the 
entity's net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling 
interests' proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. The choice of 
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are 
measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another IFRS. 
 
When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting 
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair 
value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value of 
the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with 
corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from 
additional information obtained during the 'measurement period' (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition 
date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date. 
 
The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as 
measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent 
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent 
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is 
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with IAS 39, or IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. 
 
When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is 
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control) and the resulting gain 
or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition 
date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where 
such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of. 
 
If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 
business combination occurs, the Group uses provisional fair value amounts for the items for which the accounting 
is incomplete. The provisional amounts are adjusted to reflect new information obtained about facts and 
circumstances the existed as of the acquisition date, including additional assets or liabilities identified in the 
measurement period. The measurement period for completion of the initial accounting ends as soon as the Group 
receives the information it was seeking about facts and circumstances or learns that more information is not 
obtainable, subject to the measurement period not exceeding one year from the acquisition date. 
 
The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains complete information 
about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and does not exceed twelve months. 
 
On disposal of a subsidiary or jointly controlled entity, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the 
determination of the profit and loss on disposal. 

Common control transactions 

A 'business combination involving entities or businesses under common control' is a business combination in which all 
of the combining entities or businesses are ultimately controlled by the same party or parties both before and after the 
combination, and that control is not transitory.  

The acquirer in a common control transaction should use either of the following in its Consolidated Financial 
Statements:    
- book value (carry-over basis) accounting on the basis that the investment has simply been moved from one 
part of the group to another; or 
- IFRS 3 accounting on the basis that the acquirer is a separate entity in its own right and should not be 
confused with the economic group as a whole 

In applying book value accounting, an adjustment may be required in equity to reflect any difference between the 
consideration paid and the capital of the acquiree. The following are possible approaches to recognising the adjustment.    

- Reflect the adjustment in a capital account, called a 'merger' reserve or similar. 
- Reflect the adjustment in retained earnings. 

Group uses the book value (carry-over basis) accounting and selects to reflect adjustment in retained earnings.    
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Goodwill 

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and 
is not amortised but is tested annually for impairment. In respect of equity accounted investees, the carrying amount of 
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment in the investee. 

Intangible assets  

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever 
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization period and the amortization method 
for an intangible asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at least at each financial year end. Changes in the expected 
useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for 
by changing the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. 
The amortization expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognized in profit or loss in the expense category 
consistent with the function of the intangible asset. 

Internally-generated intangible assets - research and development expenditure 

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred. 

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from the Group's e-business development is recognised only if the 
Group can demonstrate all of the following: 

- the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale 
- its intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it  
- its ability to use or sell the intangible asset 
- how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits. Among other things, the entity can 

demonstrate the existence of a market for the output of the intangible asset or the intangible asset itself or, 
if it is to be used internally, the usefulness of the intangible asset. 

- the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use 
or sell the intangible asset. 

- its ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development. 

Internally-generated intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Where 
no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is charged to profit or loss in the 
period in which it is incurred. 

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or 
disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is 
derecognised. 

Patents and trademarks 

Patents and trademarks are measured initially at purchase cost and are amortised on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful lives. Their amortisation expense is included in cost of sales. 

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or 
disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is 
derecognised. 

Computer software 

Costs that are directly associated with identifiable and unique computer software products controlled by the Group and 
that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year are recognised as intangible assets. 
Subsequently computer software is carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. 

Expenditure which enhances or extends the performance of computer software programs beyond their original 
specifications is recognised as a capital improvement and added to the original cost of the computer software. Costs 
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associated with maintenance of computer software programs are recognised as an expense when incurred. 

Software development costs are capitalised in accordance with the Research and development of Computer software 
accounting policy below. 

Computer software costs are amortised using the straight-line method over their useful live, which commences when 
the computer software is available for use.  Amortisation commences wheth the computer software is available for use. 
Their amortisation expense is included in cost of sales. 

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or 
disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is 
derecognised. 

Other intangible assets 

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses. 

Amortisation 

Amortisation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible 
assets unless such lives are indefinite. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and goodwill are systematically 
tested for impairment at each balance sheet date. Other intangible assets are amortised from the date they are 
available for use. The useful lives per asset category are as follows: 

 
 Years 
Computer software in use 5 
Patents and trademarks 5 – 10 
Customer base acquisition 5 
Intellectual property/Content 15 
Certification rights 5 

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. 

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate 
items of property, plant and equipment.  

Gains and losses on disposal of the property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying 
amount and are included in profit or loss. 

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method so as to write off the cost of each asset to its residual value over 
its estimated useful life. Land is not depreciated. The depreciation expense is included in administration expenses. 
The useful lives per asset category are as follows: 
 Years 

Leasehold improvements 12 
Motor vehicles 5 
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5-10 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If a 
lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects 
to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. 
The depreciation starts on the commencement date of the lease and is included in administration expenses. 

The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 
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Expenditure for repairs and maintenance of property, plant and equipment is charged to profit or loss of the year in 
which it is incurred. The cost of major renovations and other subsequent expenditure are included in the carrying 
amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits in excess of the originally assessed standard of 
performance of the existing asset will flow to the Group. Major renovations are depreciated over the remaining useful 
life of the related asset. 

Leases 

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a 
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Group 
assesses whether: 
− the contract involves the use of an identified asset - this may be specified explicitly or implicitly and should be 

physically distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity of a physically distinct asset. If the supplier has a 
substantive substitution right, then the asset is not identified; 

− the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset throughout the 
period of use; and 

− the Group has the right to direct the use of the asset. The Group has this right when it has the decision-making 
rights that are most relevant to changing how and for what purpose the asset is used. In rare cases where the 
decision about how and for what purpose the asset is used is predetermined, the Group has the right to direct the 
use of the asset if either: 

− the Group has the right to operate the asset; or 
− the Group designed the asset in a way that predetermines how and for what purpose it will be used. 

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the consideration 
in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices. However, for the leases of 
land and buildings in which it is a lessee, the Group has elected not to separate non-lease components and account 
for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component. 

The Group as lessor 

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating 
lease. 

To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of the 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is a finance lease; 
if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Group considers certain indicators such as whether 
the lease is for the major part of the economic life of the asset. 

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the sub-lease separately. 
It assesses the lease classification of a sub-lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, 
not with reference to the underlying asset. If a head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the 
exemption described above, then it classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease. 

If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate the consideration 
in the contract. 

The Group recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term as part of 'other income'. 

The accounting policies applicable to the Group as a lessor in the comparative period were not different from IFRS 16. 
However, when the Group was an intermediate lessor the sub-leases were classified with reference to the underlying 
asset. 

The Group as lessee  

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use 
asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease 
payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to 
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dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any 
lease incentives received. 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the 
earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of 
the right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the 
right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the 
lease liability. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, 
the Group's incremental borrowing rate. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 
− fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; 
− variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the 

commencement date; 
− amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and 
− the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments in 

an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties for 
early termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably certain not to terminate early. 

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a 
change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group's estimate 
of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Group changes its assessment of 
whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. 

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the 
right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to 
zero. 

The Group presents its right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property in 'Property, plant and 
equipment' in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets  

The Group has elected not to recognise the right of use assets and lease liabilities for short term leases that have a 
lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low value assets (i.e. IT equipment, office equipment etc.). The Group 
recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight line basis over the lease 
term. 

Lease acquired in a business combination 

For leases acquired in a business combination, the Group measures the acquired lease liability at the present value 
of the remaining lease payments, as if the acquired lease were a new lease at the acquisition date. The right-of-use 
asset is measured at acquisition at the same amount as the lease liability, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable 
terms of the lease when compared with market terms.  

Lease liability and associated right-of-use assets acquired in a business combination for which the lease term ends 
within 12 months of the acquisition date or, leases for which the underlying asset value is low, are not recognized. 

Inventories 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is based on the weighted average principle 
and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs in 
bringing them to their existing location and condition. 

Impairment of non-financial assets excluding inventories and deferred tax assets 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed 
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at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then 
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill, and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives or that 
are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated each year at the same time. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less 
costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the 
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash 
inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit”). The goodwill acquired in a business 
combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to cash-generating units (“CGUs”). Subject to an 
operating segment ceiling test, for the purposes of goodwill impairment testing, CGUs to which goodwill has been 
allocated are aggregated so that the level at which impairment is tested reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is 
monitored for internal reporting purposes. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to groups of CGUs 
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable 
amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units, and then to reduce the carrying 
amounts of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis. 

Financial instruments 

Financial assets - Classification 

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: 
- those to be measured subsequently at fair value, either through other comprehensive income (OCI) or 

through profit or loss, and 
- those to be measured at amortised cost (AC). 

The classification and subsequent measurement of debt financial assets depends on: (i) the Group's business model 
for managing the related assets portfolio and (ii) the cash flow characteristics of the asset.  

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions: 
- it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and 
- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 

interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions: 
- it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and 

selling financial assets; and 
- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 

interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a debt financial asset that otherwise meets the 
requirements to be measured at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) or at fair 
value through profit or loss (FVTPL) if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would 
otherwise arise. 

For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, the classification will depend on whether the Group 
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at FVOCI. This 
election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. 

All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL. 

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in 
equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election 
at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVOCI). This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. 

Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less impairment. 
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Financial assets - Recognition and derecognition 

All purchases and sales of financial assets that require delivery within the time frame established by regulation or 
market convention (''regular way'' purchases and sales) are recorded at trade date, which is the date when the Group 
commits to deliver a financial instrument. All other purchases and sales are recognised when the entity becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have 
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 

Financial assets - Measurement 

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at 
FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of 
financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in profit or loss. Fair value at initial recognition is best evidenced by 
the transaction price. A gain or loss on initial recognition is only recorded if there is a difference between fair value and 
transaction price which can be evidenced by other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or 
by a valuation technique whose inputs include only data from observable markets. 

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows 
are solely payment of principal and interest. 

Financial assets at FVTPL (other than derivatives designated as hedging instruments) are subsequently measured at 
fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss.  

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and 
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss. 

Debt investments at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income calculated using the effective 
interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains 
and losses are recognised in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or 
loss. 

Equity investments at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as income in profit 
or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and 
losses are recognised in OCI and are never reclassified to profit or loss. 

Financial assets - Reclassification 

Financial instruments are reclassified only when the business model for managing those assets changes. The 
reclassification has a prospective effect and takes place from the start of the first reporting period following the change. 

Financial assets - write-off 

Financial assets are written-off, in whole or in part, when the Group exhausted all practical recovery efforts and has 
concluded that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. The write-off represents a derecognition event. The 
Group may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity when the Group seeks to recover 
amounts that are contractually due, however, there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. 

Financial assets - modification 

The Group sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual terms of the financial assets. The Group 
assesses whether the modification of contractual cash flows is substantial considering, among other, the following 
factors: any new contractual terms that substantially affect the risk profile of the asset (e.g. profit share or equity-based 
return), significant change in interest rate, change in the currency denomination, new collateral or credit enhancement 
that significantly affects the credit risk associated with the asset or a significant extension of a loan when the borrower 
is not in financial difficulties. 

If the modified terms are substantially different, the rights to cash flows from the original asset expire and the Group 
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derecognises the original financial asset and recognises a new asset at its fair value. The date of renegotiation is 
considered to be the date of initial recognition for subsequent impairment calculation purposes, including determining 
whether a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) has occurred. The Group also assesses whether the new loan or 
debt instrument meets the solely payment of principal and interest (SPPI) criterion. Any difference between the carrying 
amount of the original asset derecognised and fair value of the new substantially modified asset is recognised in profit 
or loss, unless the substance of the difference is attributed to a capital transaction with owners. 

In a situation where the renegotiation was driven by financial difficulties of the counterparty and inability to make the 
originally agreed payments, the Group compares the original and revised expected cash flows to assets whether the 
risks and rewards of the asset are substantially different as a result of the contractual modification. If the risks and 
rewards do not change, the modified asset is not substantially different from the original asset and the modification 
does not result in derecognition. The Group recalculates the gross carrying amount by discounting the modified 
contractual cash flows by the original effective interest rate, and recognises a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. 

Financial assets - impairment - credit loss allowance for ECL 

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit loss (ECL) for debt instruments (including loans) 
measured at amortised cost and FVOCI and exposure arising from loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. 
The Group measures ECL and recognises credit loss allowance at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL 
reflects: (i) an unbiased and probability weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes, 
(ii) time value of money and (iii) all reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost and effort 
at the end of each reporting period about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future conditions. 

The carrying amount of the financial assets is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the 
loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income within ''net impairment losses on financial 
and contract assets. Subsequent recoveries of amounts for which loss allowance was previously recognised are credited 
against the same line item. 

Debt instruments carried at amortised cost are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position net of the 
allowance for ECL. For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, a separate provision for ECL is recognised 
as a liability in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

For debt instruments at FVOCI, an allowance for ECL is recognised in profit or loss and it affects fair value gains or 
losses recognised in OCI rather than the carrying amount of those instruments. 

The impairment methodology applied by the Group for calculating expected credit losses depends on the type of financial 
asset assessed for impairment. Specifically:  

For trade receivables and contract assets, including trade receivables and contract assets with a significant financing 
component, and lease receivables the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires lifetime 
expected credit losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the financial assets.  

For all other financial instruments that are subject to impairment under IFRS 9, the Group applies general 
approach - three stage model for impairment. The Group applies a three-stage model for impairment, based on changes 
in credit quality since initial recognition. A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified 
in Stage 1. 

Financial assets in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime ECL that results from 
default events possible within the next 12 months or until contractual maturity, if shorter (''12 Months ECL''). If the Group 
identifies a ''SICR'' since initial recognition, the asset is transferred to Stage 2 and its ECL is measured based on ECL 
on a lifetime basis, that is, up until contractual maturity but considering expected prepayments, if any (''Lifetime ECL''). 
Refer to note 37.1, Credit risk section, for a description of how the Group determines when a SICR has occurred. If the 
Group determines that a financial asset is credit-impaired, the asset is transferred to Stage 3 and its ECL is measured 
as a Lifetime ECL. The Group's definition of credit impaired assets and definition of default is explained in note 36.1, 
Credit risk section. 

Additionally the Group has decided to use the low credit risk assessment exemption for investment grade financial 
assets. Refer to note 37.1, Credit risk section for a description of how the Group determines low credit risk financial 
assets. 
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Classification as financial assets at amortised cost 

These amounts generally arise from transactions outside the usual operating activities of the Group. They are held with 
the objective to collect their contractual cash flows and their cash flows represent solely payments of principal and 
interest. Accordingly, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for 
impairment. Financial assets at amortised cost are classified as current assets if they are due within one year or less 
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current assets. 

Classification as trade receivables 

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course of 
business. If collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they 
are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets. Trade receivables are recognised 
initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less loss 
allowance. 

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain 
significant financing components, in which case they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade 
receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.  

Trade receivables are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9. The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified 
approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. 
See note 37, Credit risk section. 

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with 
the Group, and a failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater than 180 days past due.  

Debtors and provisions for bad debt 

Bad debts are written off to profit or loss and a specific provision is made, where it is considered necessary. No general 
provision for bad debts is made. Trade debtors are stated after deducting the specific provision for bad and doubtful 
debts, if any. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank. Cash and cash 
equivalents are carried at AC because: (i) they are held for collection of contractual cash flows and those cash flows 
represent SPPI, and (ii) they are not designated at FVTPL. 

Financial liabilities and equity 
Financial instruments issued by the Group are treated as equity only to the extent that they meet the following two 
conditions:  

(a) they include no contractual obligations upon the Group to deliver cash or other financial assets or to exchange 
financial assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the Group; 
and  

(b) where the instrument will or may be settled in the Group’s own equity instruments, it is either a non-derivative 
that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the Group’s own equity instruments or is a derivative that 
will be settled by the Group’s exchanging a fixed amount of cash or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own 
equity instruments. 

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability.  Where the 
instrument so classified takes the legal form of the Group’s own shares, the amounts presented in these Financial 
Statements for called up share capital and share premium account exclude amounts in relation to those shares.   

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified as at FVTPL 
if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative, or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities 
at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in profit 
or loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
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Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on 
derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss. 

Equity instruments 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of 
its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 
costs. 

Repurchase of the Group's own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group's own equity instruments. 
 

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Group's Management has elected 
to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value 
gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment, any related balance within the FVOCI 
reserve is reclassified to retained earnings. The Group's policy is to designate equity investments as FVOCI when 
those investments are held for strategic purposes other than solely to generate investment returns. Dividends from 
such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the Group's right to receive 
payments is established. 

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVTPL are recognised in ''other gains/(losses)'' in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity 
investments measured at FVTPL are not reported separately from other changes in fair value. 
Debt instruments 

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group's business model for managing the asset and 
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into which the Group classifies its 
debt instruments: 

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely 
payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets is 
included in 'other income'. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented 
in other gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate 
line item in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Financial assets measured at amortised cost 
(AC) comprise cash and cash equivalents, bank deposits with original maturity over 3 months, trade receivables and 
financial assets at amortised cost. 

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the 
assets' cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the 
carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income and 
foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, 
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in 
other gains/(losses). Interest income from these financial assets is included in ''other income''. Foreign exchange gains 
and losses are presented in ''other gains/(losses)'' and impairment expenses are presented as separate line item in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

FVTPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL. A gain or loss on a 
debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVTPL is recognised in profit or loss and presented net within ''other 
gains/(losses)'' in the period in which it arises. 

Financial liabilities - measurement categories 

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value and classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost, 
except for (i) financial liabilities at FVTPL: this classification is applied to derivatives, financial liabilities held for trading 
(e.g. short positions in securities), contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination and 
other financial liabilities designated as such at initial recognition and (ii) financial guarantee contracts and loan 
commitments. 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 
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Financial liabilities - modifications 

An exchange between the Group and its original lenders of debt instruments with substantially different terms, as well 
as substantial modifications of the terms and conditions of existing financial liabilities, are accounted for as an 
extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. The terms are substantially 
different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees 
received and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10% different from the discounted present 
value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. (In addition, other qualitative factors, such as the 
currency that the instrument is denominated in, changes in the type of interest rate, new conversion features attached 
to the instrument and change in loan covenants are also considered.) 

If an exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees 
incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. If the exchange or modification is not 
accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are 
amortised over the remaining term of the modified liability. 

Modifications of liabilities that do not result in extinguishment are accounted for as a change in estimate using a 
cumulative catch-up method, with any gain or loss recognised in profit or loss, unless the economic substance of the 
difference in carrying values is attributed to a capital transaction with owners and is recognised directly to equity.  

Borrowing costs are interest and other costs that the Group incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds, including 
interest on borrowings, amortisation of discounts or premium relating to borrowings, amortisation of ancillary costs 
incurred in connection with the arrangement of borrowings, finance lease charges and exchange differences arising 
from foreign currency borrowings to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs. 

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset, being 
an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale, are capitalised as 
part of the cost of that asset, when it is probable that they will result in future economic benefits to the Group and the 
costs can be measured reliably. 

Borrowings 

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value. Transaction costs incurred are recognized as an expense in the 
statement of comprehensive income. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised cost. Any difference between 
the proceeds and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings, using the 
effective interest method, unless they are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a 
qualifying asset, in which case they are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. 

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as expense in profit or loss as incurred. 

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the 
contract is extinguished (i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires). The 
difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party 
and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or 
loss as other income or finance costs. 

Trade payables  

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest rate method. 

Deferred income 

Deferred income represents income receipts which relate to future periods. 

Offsetting financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial 
position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. This is not generally the 
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case with master netting agreements, and the related assets and liabilities are presented gross in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. 

Prepayments 

Prepayments are carried at cost less provision for impairment. A prepayment is classified as non-current when the 
goods or services relating to the prepayment are expected to be obtained after one year, or when the prepayment 
relates to an asset which will itself be classified as non-current upon initial recognition. Prepayments to acquire assets 
are transferred to the carrying amount of the asset once the Group has obtained control of the asset and it is probable 
that future economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Group. Other prepayments are written off to 
profit or loss when the goods or services relating to the prepayments are received. If there is an indication that the 
assets, goods or services relating to a prepayment will not be received, the carrying value of the prepayment is written 
down accordingly and a corresponding impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. 

Share capital 

Ordinary and preference shares are classified as equity.  

Merger reserve 

Merger reserve is the difference between the cost of acquiring an investment in subsidiary and the acquired 
subsidiary's net assets book value. 

Provisions and contingent liabilities 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it 
is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount 
can be made. Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the 
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. 

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the Financial Statements but are disclosed unless the possibility of outflow 
is remote. Contingent assets are not recognized in the Financial Statements but are disclosed when an inflow of 
economic benefits is probable. 

Provision for onerous contracts is established when the expected benefits to the Company from a contract are lower 
than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. This provision is measured at the present value 
of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. 
Before a provision is established, the Company recognizes any impairment loss on the assets associated with that 
contract. 

Employee benefits 

Defined contribution plans 

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a 
separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to 
defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the income statement in the periods during which 
services are rendered by employees. 

Defined benefit plans 

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The Group’s net 
obligation in respect of defined benefit pension plans is calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that 
employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine 
its present value, and the fair value of any plan assets (at bid price) are deducted. The Group determines the net 
interest on the net defined benefit liability/(asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the 
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defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the net defined benefit liability. 

The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on bonds that have a credit rating of at least AA that have maturity 
dates approximating the terms of the Group’s obligations and that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits 
are expected to be paid. 

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit plans comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan assets 
(excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest). The Group recognises them 
immediately in other comprehensive income and all other expenses related to defined benefit plans in employee benefit 
expenses in profit or loss. 

When the benefits of a plan are changed, or when a plan is curtailed, the portion of the changed benefit related to past 
service by employees, or the gain or loss on curtailment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss when the plan 
amendment or curtailment occurs. The Group then calculates the current service cost for the remainder of the reporting 
period, post the amendment or curtailment, using the same actuarial assumptions as those used to remeasure the net 
defined benefit liability/(asset). 

The calculation of the defined benefit obligations is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit 
method. When the calculation results in a benefit to the Group, the recognised asset is limited to the present value of 
benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions and takes into 
account the adverse effect of any minimum funding requirements. 

The Group recognises gains and losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs. The 
gain or loss on a settlement is the difference between the present value of the defined benefit obligation being settled 
as determined on the date of settlement and the settlement price, including any plan assets transferred and any 
payments made directly by the Group in connection with the settlement, ignoring the effect of the asset ceiling that is 
reversed separately through OCI. 

Short-term benefits 

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related 
service is provided.  A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-
sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service 
provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

Revenue 

Recognition and measurement 

Revenue represents the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring 
the promised goods or services to the customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties (for example, 
value-added taxes); the transaction price. The Group includes in the transaction price an amount of variable 
consideration as a result of rebates/discounts only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in 
the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable 
consideration is subsequently resolved. Estimations for rebates and discounts are based on the Group's experience 
with similar contracts and forecasted sales to the customer. 

The Group recognises revenue when the parties have approved the contract (in writing, orally or in accordance with 
other customary business practices ) and are committed to perform their respective obligations, the Group can identify 
each party's rights and the payment terms for the goods or services to be transferred, the contract has commercial 
substance (i.e. the risk, timing or amount of the Group's future cash flows is expected to change as a result of the 
contract), it is probable that the Group will collect the consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for the goods 
or services that will be transferred to the customer and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Group's 
contracts with customers. 

The Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of 
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement. In evaluating whether collectability of an amount of consideration 
is probable, the Group considers only the customer's ability and intention to pay that amount of consideration when it 
is due. 
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Estimates of revenues, costs or extent of progress toward completion are revised if circumstances change. Any 
resulting increases or decreases in estimates are reflected in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in 
the period in which the circumstances that give rise to the revision become known by Board of Directors. 

Identification of performance obligations 

The Group assesses whether contracts that involve the provision of a range of goods and/or services contain one or 
more performance obligations (that is, distinct promises to provide a service) and allocates the transaction price to 
each performance obligation identified on the basis of its stand-alone selling price. A good or service that is promised 
to a customer is distinct if the customer can benefit from the good or service, either on its own or together with other 
resources that are readily available to the customer (that is the good or service is capable of being distinct) and the 
Group's promise to transfer the good or service to the customer is separately identifiable from other promises in the 
contract (that is, the good or service is distinct within the context of the contract). 

 

- Sale of products 
 
Sales of products are recognised at the point in time when the Group satisfies its performance obligation by 
transferring control over the promised products to the customer, which is usually when the products are 
delivered to the customer, risk of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the customer and the 
customer has accepted the products. 

- Rendering of services 
 

Revenue from rendering of services is recognised over time while the Group satisfies its performance 
obligation by transferring control over the promised service to the customer in the accounting period in which 
the services are rendered. For fixed-price contracts, revenue is recognised based on the actual service 
provided to the end of the reporting period as a proportion of the total services to be provided because the 
customer receives and uses the benefits simultaneously. This is determined based on the actual labour hours 
spent relative to the total expected labour hours. 

- Financing component 
 
The Group does not have any material contracts where the period between the transfer of the promised goods 
or services to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a consequence, the Group 
elects to use the practical expedient and does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of 
money. 

- Contract assets and contract liabilities 
 
In case the services rendered by the Group as of the reporting date exceed the payments made by the 
customer as of that date and the Group does not have the unconditional right to charge the client for the 
services rendered, a contract asset is recognised. The Group assesses a contract asset for impairment in 
accordance with IFRS 9 using the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9 which requires expected lifetime 
losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the contract asset. An impairment of a contract asset is 
measured, presented and disclosed on the same basis as a financial asset that is within the scope of IFRS 9. 
If the payments made by a customer exceed the services rendered under the relevant contract, a contract 
liability is recognised. The Group recognises any unconditional rights to consideration separately from contract 
assets as a trade receivable because only the passage of time is required before the payment is due. 
 
Contract assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is 
no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a 
repayment plan with the Group, and a failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater than 180 
days past due. 
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- Costs to obtain or fulfil contracts with customers 
 
The Group recognises the incremental costs incurred by the Group to obtain contracts with customers and 
the costs incurred in fulfilling contracts with customers that are directly associated with the contract as an 
asset if those costs are expected to be recoverable and record the in ''Other assets'' in consolidated statement 
of financial position. Incremental costs of obtaining contracts are those costs that the Group incurs to obtain 
a contract with customer that would not have been incurred if the contract had not been obtained. The asset 
is amortised on a straight-line basis over the term of the specific contract it relates to, consistent with the 
pattern of recognition of the associated revenue and recognised in ''cost of sales'' in consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income. Additionally, the asset is assessed for impairment and any impairment loss is 
recognised in ''cost of sales'' in consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
 
The Group recognises the incremental costs of obtaining a contract as an expense when incurred if the 
amortization period of the asset that the entity otherwise would have recognised is one year or less. 

Finance income 

Financing income mainly comprises net foreign exchange gains. Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion 
basis using the effective method. 

Finance costs 

Financing expenses include interest payable, finance charges on lease liabilities recognised in profit or loss using the 
effective interest method and net foreign exchange losses that are recognised in the income statement (see foreign 
currency accounting policy).   

Interest payable is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, using the effective interest method. 

 Foreign currency 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of group entities at the foreign 
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
at the balance sheet date are retranslated to the functional currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. 
Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the income statement. Non-monetary assets 
and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate 
at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at 
fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was 
determined. 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation, 
are translated to the Group’s presentational currency, British Pound, at foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance 
sheet date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated at an average rate for the month where 
this rate approximates to the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. 

Exchange differences arising from this translation of foreign operations are reported as an item of other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in the translation reserve. When a foreign operation is disposed of, such that control is lost, 
the entire accumulated amount in the FCTR, net of amounts previously attributed to non-controlling interests, is 
recycled to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of only part of its interest in 
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation while still retaining control, the relevant proportion of the accumulated 
amount is reattributed to non-controlling interests. 

Regarding the foreign currency translation, the following apply: 

(1) Functional and presentation currency 

 
Items included in the Group Financial Statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates ('the functional currency'). The Financial Statements are presented in 
British pounds (GBP or GB£), which is the Group's presentation currency. 

 The functional currency of the Company is GBP. The functional currency of the subsidiaries is as follows: 
• Euro (EUR) - PeopleCert International Limited, PeopleCert Hellas S.A, PeopleCert Educational S.A. 

and PeopleCert Global Services S.A.  
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• British Pound (GBP) - PeopleCert UK Ltd., PeopleCert Qualifications Ltd., Axelos Ltd. and PeopleCert 
Wisdom Issuer Plc.  

• US Dollar (USD) - IASSC International Association For Six Sigma Certification LLC and DevOps 
Institute Inc. 

• Turkish lira (TRL) - PeopleCert Personel Belgelendirme A.S.. 
• Indian Rupee (INR) - DPC LanguageCert India Private Ltd. 
• Swiss Franc (CHF) - PeopleCert Switzerland Holding AG and PeopleCert Switzerland AG 

(2) Transactions and balances 

 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at 
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss. 

Tax 

Tax expense represents the sum of the current income tax and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity. 

Current tax liabilities and assets are measured at the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the taxation 
authorities, using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted, or substantively enacted, by the reporting date. 

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the Financial Statements. The following temporary differences are 
not provided for: the initial recognition of goodwill; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither 
accounting nor taxable profit other than in a business combination, and differences relating to investments in 
subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax 
provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against 
which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. 
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Government grants 

Government grants are included within trade and other payables in the balance sheet and credited to the profit and 
loss account on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for 
which the grants are intended to compensate.  

The Group has elected to present grants related to income separately under the heading “Other income”.  

Dividends 

Dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is recognised in the Group Financial Statements in the year in 
which they are approved by the Company's shareholders. 

Fair value measurement for financial and non-financial assets and liabilities 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date in the principal market or, in the absence of a principal market, 
in the most advantageous market for that asset or liability. The fair value of a liability represents the risk of default. 

The financial assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position which are measured at fair value, are grouped 
based on a fair value hierarchy of three levels. The levels are determined based on the quality/nature of the inputs 
used in measuring the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels: 

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

 Level 2: inputs, other than quoted prices included in Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices);  

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

Some of the Group's accounting policies and disclosures require fair value measurement, for both financial and non-
financial assets and liabilities. If available, the Group assesses the fair value of a financial and non-financial instrument 
using market prices traded in an active market for that instrument. A market is considered active if the asset or liability 
is traded at a sufficient frequency and volume to enable valuation data to be derived on an ongoing basis. In case 
there is no price in an active market, the Group uses valuation methods that maximize the use of observable data input 
and minimize the use of non-observable date input. The chosen valuation method incorporates all the parameters that 
would be taken into account by market participants when valuing a transaction. 

The fair value of the financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss is determined based on Level 1 
inputs.  

Comparatives 

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation in the current year. 

5. New and amended International financial reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and Interpretations 

New International financial reporting standards, interpretations, and amendments to Standards effective and 
endorsed by the European Union 
Since 1 January 2024, the Group has adopted all amendments in IFRS as these were adopted by the European Union 
(“EU”) which relate to its operations. These Amendments and Interpretations did not have a significant impact on the 
Group Financial Statements. 
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The following new Standards, Interpretations and amendments to Standards have been issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB), have been adopted by the European Union and their application is mandatory 
from 01/01/2024 onwards. 

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current 
(Amendments) 
In January 2020, IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 clarifying the requirements for the classification of the liabilities as 
current and non - current. In particular, the amendments clarify that one of the criteria for the classification of a liability 
as non - current is the entity’s right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting date. The amendments 
clarify the meaning of a right to defer settlement, the requirement of this right to exist at the reporting date and that 
management’s intention in relation to the option to defer the settlement does not affect current or non-current 
classification. 

Additionally, in October2022, IASB issued an amendment providing clarifications for the classification of debt with 
covenants and requires new disclosures for non-current liabilities that are subject to future covenants. 

New International financial reporting standards, amendments to Standards and interpretations not yet effective 
or not endorsed by the EU 
The following New Standards, Amendments and Interpretations have been issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) but are not yet effective for annual periods starting 1st January 2024. Those relating to the 
Group’s operations are presented below. 

IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates: Lack of Exchangeability (Amendments). The 
amendments are effective for annual periods on or after 01 January 2025. 
In August 2023, IASB published amendments to IAS 21 “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates” which 
require companies to provide more useful information in their Financial Statements when a currency is not 
exchangeable to another currency. The amendments introduce a definition of the “exchangeability” of a currency and 
provide guidance on how an entity should estimate a spot exchange rate in cases where a currency is not 
exchangeable. Also, additional disclosures are required in cases where an entity has estimated a spot exchange rate 
due to a lack of exchangeability. 

IAS 21 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. Early adoption is permitted. The 
amendments have been endorsed by the EU. 

IFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements” (effective for annual periods starting on or after 
01.01.2027).  
In April 2024 the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued a new standard, IFRS 18, which replaces 
IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’. The primary objective of the Standard is to improve the assessment of a 
company's performance by increasing comparability in the presentation of an entity’s Financial Statements, particularly 
in the statement of profit or loss and in its notes to the Financial Statements. Specifically, the Standard will improve the 
quality of financial reporting due to a) the requirement of defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss, b) the 
requirement to disclose certain ‘non-GAAP’ measures – management performance measures (MPMs)and c) the new 
principles for aggregation and disaggregation of information. 

IFRS 18 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027. Early adoption is permitted. The 
amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. 

IAS 19 “Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures” (effective for annual periods starting on or 
after 01.01.2027) 
In May 2024 the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued a new standard, IFRS 19, which permits to 
a subsidiary, without public accountability and that has a parent that produces consolidated financial statements 
available for public use that comply with IFRS Accounting Standards to provide reduced disclosures when applying 
IFRS Accounting Standards in its Financial Statements. An eligible subsidiary that applies IFRS 19 is required to apply 
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the requirements in other IFRS Accounting Standards for recognition, measurement and presentation requirements but 
for disclosure requirements, it applies IFRS 19 instead of the disclosure requirements in other IFRS Accounting 
Standards, except in specified circumstances. 

IFRS 19 is optional for subsidiaries that are eligible and sets out the disclosure requirements for subsidiaries that elect 
to apply for it. 

The new standard is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier application 
permitted. The amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. 

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments (Amendments to IFRS 9 and 
IFRS 7) The amendments are effective for annual periods on or after 01 January 2026 
The amendments clarify that a financial liability is derecognized on the “settlement date” and introduce an accounting 
policy choice to derecognise financial liabilities settled using an electronic payment system before the settlement date. 
Other clarifications include the classification of financial assets with ESG linked features via additional guidance on the 
assessment of contingent features. Clarifications have been made to non-recourse loans and contractually linked 
instruments. The amendments require additional disclosures for investments in equity instruments that are measured 
at fair value with gains or losses presented in other comprehensive income (FVOCI). The amendments have not yet 
been endorsed by the EU. 

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards (Amendments to IFRS 7, IFRS 9, and IAS 7 effective 
from 01 January 2026)  
In the annual improvements volume 11 issued on 18 July 2024 the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) 
makes minor amendments that include clarifications, simplifications, corrections and changes in the following 
Accounting Standards: 
• IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 
- Gain or loss on derecognition 
- Disclosure of differences between the fair value and the transaction price 
 Disclosures on credit risk 
 
• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Disclosures:  
- Derecognition of lease liabilities 
- Transaction price 
 
• IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows - Cost Method. 

The amendments to IFRS 9 address:  

A conflict between IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers over the initial measurement of trade 
receivables; and how a lessee accounts for the derecognition of a lease liability under IFRS 9.The amendment on 
derecognition of lease liabilities applies only to lease liabilities extinguished on or after the beginning of the annual 
reporting period in which the amendment is first applied.The amendments apply for annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2026. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. 

The adoption of the above updated standards is not expected to have a significant impact on the Financial Statements 
of the Group. 

6. Critical accounting estimates and judgments  

The preparation of Financial Statements in conformity with IFRS, as adopted by EU, requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates and requires Management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group's 
accounting policies. It also requires the use of assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the Financial Statements and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Although these estimates are based on Management's best 
knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. 

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
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expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below. 

- Internally generated intangibles 
 
Significant judgement is required in distinguishing research from the development phase. A detailed forecast 
of sales or cost savings expected to be generated by the intangible asset is incorporated into the Group's 
overall budget forecast as the capitalisation of development costs commences. This ensures that managerial 
accounting, impairment testing procedures and accounting for internally-generated intangible assets is based 
on the same data. The Group's Director also monitors whether the recognition requirements for development 
costs continue to be met. This is necessary as the economic success of any product development is uncertain 
and may be subject to future technical problems after the time of recognition. 

- Income taxes 
 
Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are transactions and 
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.  

- Impairment of financial assets 
 
The loss allowances for financial assets are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss 
rates. The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment 
calculation, based on the Group's past history, existing market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates 
at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in note 37, 
Credit risk section. 

- Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
The impairment test is performed using the discounted cash flows expected to be generated through the use 
of non-financial assets, using a discount rate that reflects the current market estimations and the risks 
associated with the asset. When it is impractical to estimate the recoverable amount of an asset, the Group 
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit in which the asset belongs to. 

- Impairment of intangible assets 
 
Intangible assets are initially recorded at acquisition cost and are amortized on a straight line basis over their 
useful economic life. Intangible assets that are acquired through a business combination are initially recorded 
at fair value at the date of acquisition. Intangible assets with indefinite useful life are reviewed for impairment 
at least once per year. The impairment test is performed using the discounted cash flows expected to be 
generated through the use of the intangible assets, using a discount rate that reflects the current market 
estimations and the risks associated with the asset. When it is impractical to estimate the recoverable amount 
of an asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit in which the asset 
belongs to. 

 

- Useful lives of depreciable assets 
 

The Company reviews the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date, and revises them if 
necessary, so that the useful lives related to the period that these assets are expected to generate cash 
inflows. Actual results, however, may vary due to extended period that these assets, especially in case of 
intangible assets that can generate cash inflows other than initial their estimated useful lives, technological 
obsolescence, mis-usage and other factors that are not easily predictable in initial recognition. 
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7. Acquisitions of subsidiaries 

Acquisitions in the current period 

On 11 March 2024, the Group acquired through PeopleCert International Limited 99.99% of the ordinary shares in DP 
Cube Learning and Skills Private Limited (“DP Cube”), a company incorporated in India. The remaining 0.01% was 
acquired by PeopleCert Holdings UK Limited, the ultimate parent company of PeopleCert Wisdom Limited. The total 
consideration amounted to US$370,000 (INR34,979,063). 

The Group acquired DP Cube Learning and Skills, a distinguished educational services provider based in India, 
specializing in the English language sector, in order to significantly strengthen the LanguageCert brand’s presence in 
Asia, particularly across India and the surrounding region, marking a significant milestone in the achievement of the 
strategic goals of the Group. Following the acquisition, DP Cube Learning and Skills was renamed to DPC 
LanguageCert India Private Limited. 

Consideration paid 

The total consideration amounted to US$370,000 (INR34,979,063) and did not have any deferred or contingent 
component. 

Goodwill 

The value of goodwill was determined provisionally following the accounting rules of IFRS 3 'Business Combinations' 
as follows: 

 

The goodwill arising from DPC LanguageCert India was retranslated to the reporting currency GBP as of 31 December 
2024 and amounted to GB£202,198. 

Acquisition related costs 

For the acquisition of DPC LanguageCert India, the Group incurred acquisition related costs of approximately GB£53k, 
that concerned mainly consultancy and legal fees. These costs have been included in other expenses in the Group’s 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

The subsidiary’s financial results have been consolidated from 11 March 2024. 

Acquisitions in the prior period 

On 17 February 2023, the Group acquired through PeopleCert International Limited all of the ordinary shares in 
DevOps Institute Inc. (“DevOps”) for a total consideration of US$5.4 million.  

DevOps Institute Inc. is a US-based company with a global learning community that aims to empower IT professionals 
to make the most of DevOps. DevOps Institute has a community of over 45,000 IT professionals, active in 160 countries 
and comprising a network of 150 authorised partners worldwide. It empowers the people who power IT and helps them 
develop both the professional and personal expertise to make the most of DevOps in their business and career. DevOps 
Institute is an organisation that provides deep practical knowledge, a welcoming professional network, innovative 
research, respected certification programs and unique insider events.  

The acquisition fully complemented PeopleCert’s existing IT & Business certifications portfolio and followed a streak of 
other key acquisitions in the certification industry for the company. It further solidified PeopleCert’s position as a global 
IP-house of best-practice frameworks and certifications, which continued its path of growth, organically and through 
acquisitions. By bringing DevOps into the Group, management strengthened Group’s market position by delivering a 
broader range of innovative products and services to benefit the Group’s clients.  

 

INR
Fair value of net assets 13,300,000                 
Goodwill 21,679,063                 
Total consideration 34,979,063                 
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Effect of acquisition 

The acquisition had the following effect on the Group’s assets and liabilities at the acquisition date:

 

Consideration paid 

The total consideration agreed is analysed as follows: 

 

According to the share purchase agreement, the consideration for the shares of DevOps was the aggregate of the 
below: 

(1) A base cash consideration of US$4,620,000 payable on the acquisition date 17 February 2023. 

(2) A deferred component (1st holdback payment) of US$368,000 at present value payable eight months after the 
acquisition date.  

(3) A deferred component (2nd holdback payment) of US$404,000 at present value payable sixteen months after 
the acquisition date.  

Goodwill 

The value of goodwill was determined by a Purchase Price Allocation (PPA) report that was prepared by a third-party 
well-known firm in the USA, following the accounting rules of IFRS 3 'Business Combinations'. 

The allocation of the purchase price under the PPA was based mainly on revenue growth synergies expected from the 
acquisition of DevOps that were based on the brand recognition and certification programs and content of DevOps, 
which were anticipated to provide significant competitive advantage and product differentiation to the Group. 

According to the PPA, the fair value of the identified assets and liabilities on the date of the acquisition was estimated 
as follows: 

Recognized values 
on acquisition

US$
Acquiree's net assets at the acquisition date:
Cash and cash equivalents 472,456                      
Trade and other receivables 535,689                      
Other current assets 191,336                      
Tangible assets 3,682                          
Trade payables (111,991)                     
Other payables (16,610)                       
Deferred income (240,000)                     
Other long-term liabilities (43,496)                       

Net identifiable assets and liabilities 791,066                      

US$
Cash consideration 4,620,000                   
Deferred consideration (1st holdback payment at PV) 368,000                      
Deferred consideration (2nd holdback payment at PV) 404,000                      

Total consideration 5,392,000                   
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 A deferred tax liability was recognized on the above intangible assets on acquisition date of an amount of US$280,500 
and affected goodwill, that resulted to a total amount of US$3,781,434. The goodwill arising on the acquisition of 
DevOps has been retranslated to the group reporting currency and amounts to GB£3,018,145 as of 31 December 2024. 

On 27 September 2024, the merger of group entities IASSC LLC and DevOps Institute Inc. was completed. The new 
combined entity was renamed to PeopleCert US LLC. The goodwill that resulted from the acquisition of DevOps in 
2023 has not been affected in this respect since the relevant CGU to which it relates, has been determined on group 
level and remains unchanged. 

Acquisition-related costs 

For the acquisition of DevOps, the Group incurred acquisition related costs of approximately GB£228k, that concerned 
mainly consultancy and legal fees.  

The subsidiary’s financial results have been consolidated from 17 February 2023. 

 

US$
Trade names and trademarks 200,000                      
Certifications/ content 300,000                      
Customer relationships 600,000                      
Goodwill 3,781,434                   
DTL (280,500)                     
Total operating value 4,600,934                   
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8. Property, plant and equipment  
 

 

 

Depreciation expense for the year has been recognised in profit or loss under administration expenses. 

 

 

 

Leashold 
improvements

Motor vehicles Furniture, 
fixtures and 

office equipment

Total 

GB£ GB£ GB£ GB£
Cost 
Balance at 1 January 2023 835,170                       1,907,360              2,641,397              5,383,927              
Additions due to business combinations -                               -                         22,885 22,885                   
Additions 753,674                       1,172,667              767,289                 2,693,631              
Disposals -                               (2)                           -                         (2)                           
Exchange differences (110,301)                      (38,207)                  66,052                   (82,456)                  
Balance at 31 December 2023/ 
1 January 2024 1,478,543 3,041,818 3,497,623 8,017,984

Additions 948,579                       378,437                 1,318,196              2,645,212              
Exchange differences (67,832)                        (141,127)                (149,254)                (358,213)                
Balance at 31 December 2024 2,359,289 3,279,128 4,666,565 10,304,982

Depreciation 
Balance at 1 January 2023 238,793                       137,225                 1,282,719              1,658,737              
Charge for the year 69,228                         316,152                 362,658                 748,037                 
On disposals -                               (2)                           -                         (2)                           
Exchange differences (8,249)                          (2,916)                    (665)                       (11,831)                  
Balance at 31 December 2023/ 
1 January 2024 299,771 450,459 1,644,712 2,394,942

Charge for the year 166,721                       445,809                 470,431                 1,082,960              
Exchange differences (17,304)                        (31,173)                  (109,766)                (158,243)                
Balance at 31 December 2024 449,188 865,095 2,005,376 3,319,659

Net book amount

Balance at 31 December 2024 1,910,101                    2,414,034              2,661,188              6,985,323              

Balance at 31 December 2023 1,178,771                    2,591,359              1,852,912              5,623,042              
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9. Right-of-use assets  
 

 
 
 
 
Depreciation expense for the year has been recognised in profit or loss under administration expenses. 

 
 

Land and buildings Motor vehicles Total 

GB£ GB£ GB£
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2023 4,706,441                   673,502              5,379,943        
Additions 2,009,249                   11,341                2,020,590        
Contract modifications 28,818                        (60,869)               (32,051)            
Exchange differences (83,563)                       (13,568)               (97,131)            

Balance at 31 December 2023/ 1 January 2024 6,660,945 610,406 7,271,351

Additions 150,705                      187,872              338,577           
Contract modifications (172,913)                     -                      (172,913)          
Exchange differences (64,685)                       (28,007)               (92,691)            
Balance at 31 December 2024 6,574,052 770,271 7,344,323

Depreciation 
Balance at 1 January 2023 1,722,680                   348,991              2,071,671        
Charge for the year 841,904                      118,917              960,821           
Exchange differences (29,039)                       (7,132)                 (36,171)            

Balance at 31 December 2023/ 1 January 2024 2,535,545 460,776 2,996,321

Charge for the year 680,735 120,615 801,350           
Exchange differences 87,229                        (23,709)               63,520             
Balance at 31 December 2024 3,303,508 557,682 3,861,190

Net book amount
Balance at 31 December 2024 3,270,544 212,589 3,483,133
Balance at 31 December 2023 4,125,400 149,630 4,275,030
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10. Intangible assets 

 

 
 
 
Amortization expense for the year has been recognised in profit and loss under cost of sales. 

The additions in Computer software relate to capitalized development costs for new features, new qualifications, 
integrations and cost optimization incurred in the Group's certifications software and the website. 

The additions through business combinations of current year relate to the acquisition of DPC LanguageCert India, and 
specifically to the goodwill determined upon acquisition. 

Goodwill arising on IASSC, Axelos, DevOps and DPC LanguageCert India acquisitions is presented in the table below 
including any deferred tax liabilities that were recognized on the acquisition date.  

Impairment testing 

Goodwill is considered significant in comparison to the Group’s total assets and has been allocated to the following 
cash-generating units: 

  

DPC LanguageCert India Goodwill 

The goodwill that resulted from DPC LanguageCert India, acquired in March 2024, was determined provisionally at 
INR21,679,063. The goodwill of DPC LanguageCert India has been retranslated to the reporting currency GBP as of 
31 December 2024 (GB£202,198). For further details see note 7. 

Customer 
base 

Goodwill Computer 
software

Trademarks and 
patents

Intellectual 
property/ 
Content

Total  

GB£ GB£ GB£ GB£ GB£ GB£
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2023 721,970          317,703,753    25,784,272   5,567,233           71,080,797        420,858,025      
Acquisitions through business combinations 500,083          3,151,720        -                166,694              250,042             4,068,540          
Additions -                  -                  5,029,046     -                      -                     5,029,046          
Exchange difference (12,158)           -                  (342,584)       (6,673)                 (60,296)              (421,711)            

Balance at 31 December 2023 / 1 January 2024 1,209,895       320,855,473    30,470,735   5,727,254           71,270,543        429,533,899      
Acquisitions through business combinations -                  202,198           -                -                      -                     202,198             
Additions -                  -                  5,679,002     -                      -                     5,679,002          
Exchange differences (27,130)           (76,433)           (5,329,460)    (14,891)               (134,542)            (5,582,456)         
Balance at 31 December 2024 1,182,765       320,981,238    30,820,277   5,712,363           71,136,000        429,832,644      

Amortisation 
Balance at 1 January 2023 660,080          -                  15,329,978   1,200,509           10,722,208        27,912,775        
Amortization for the year 75,927            -                  3,872,234     560,712              8,600,463          13,109,336        
Exchange differences (12,158)           -                  (217,045)       (6,673)                 (67,745)              (303,622)            
Balance at 31 December 2023 / 1 January 2024 723,849          -                  18,985,167   1,754,547           19,254,926        40,718,489        
Amortization for the year 80,606            -                  4,401,188     556,120              8,603,553          13,641,466        
Exchange differences (27,130)           -                  (5,088,958)    (14,891)               (135,913)            (5,266,892)         

Balance at 31 December 2024 777,325          -                  18,297,396   2,295,776           27,722,566        49,093,063        

Net book amount
Balance at 31 December 2024 405,440          320,981,238    12,522,880   3,416,587           43,413,434        380,739,581      
Balance at 31 December 2023 486,046          320,855,473    11,485,568   3,972,707           52,015,616        388,815,411      

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
GB£ GB£

IASSC Goodwill 734,297          677,155           
Axelos Goodwill 317,026,598   317,026,598    
DevOps Institute Goodwill 3,018,145       3,151,720        
DPC LanguageCert India Goodwill (Note 7) 202,198          -

320,981,238   320,855,473    
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Management have assessed that there is no impairment on the goodwill recognized for DPC LanguageCert India as 
of 31 December 2024. 

DevOps Institute Goodwill  

The goodwill that resulted from the acquisition of DevOps Institute in February 2023 was determined at US$3,781,434. 
and has been retranslated to the reporting currency GBP as of 31 December 2024 (GB£3,018,145). For further details 
around the determination of goodwill refer to note 7. 

On 27 September 2024, the merger of group entities IASSC LLC and DevOps Institute Inc. was completed. The new 
combined entity was renamed to PeopleCert US LLC. The goodwill that resulted from the acquisition of DevOps in 
2023 has not been affected in this respect, since the relevant CGU to which it relates, has been determined on group 
level and remains unchanged. 

Regarding the impairment review conducted by Management as of 31 December 2024, DevOps cashflows are 
generated through group entities, and therefore, DevOps product line is treated as a single CGU, and impairment 
testing is conducted at this level.  

The key assumptions used in current year for the value-in-use calculations for Devops are as follows: discount rate 
(WACC) 16.6%, sales 6-year average growth rate 15.3% and growth rate in perpetuity 1.5%.  Based on the assessment 
performed by Management, the recoverable amount of the CGU, among which the goodwill has been allocated, 
exceeds the carrying amount as of 31 December 2024 and therefore no impairment is required as of 31 December 
2024. 

Management has identified that the carrying amount could exceed the relevant recoverable amount following a possible 
change in the assumption of the discount rate (WACC). The WACC required for the estimated recoverable amount to 
equal the carrying amount of DevOps is 67.71%. The reduction in the projected revenue required for the recoverable 
amount to equal the carrying amount of DevOps is -49.6%. 

Axelos Goodwill  

The goodwill, that arose from the acquisition of Axelos that took place in 2021, amounts at GB£317,026,598 as of 31 
December 2024, as equally determined upon its acquisition. 

Regarding the impairment review conducted by Management as of 31 December 2024, Axelos cashflows are 
generated through group entities, and therefore, Axelos product line is treated as a single CGU, and impairment testing 
is conducted at this level.  

The key assumptions used in current year for the value-in-use calculations for Axelos are as follows: Discount rate 
(WACC) 13.4%, sales 6-year average growth rate 10% and growth rate in perpetuity 1.5%.  Based on the assessment 
performed by Management, the recoverable amount of the CGU, among which the goodwill has been allocated, 
exceeds the carrying amount as of 31 December 2024 and therefore no impairment is required as of 31 December 
2024. 

Management has identified that the carrying amount could exceed the relevant recoverable amount following a possible 
change in the assumption of the discount rate (WACC) and the sales growth rate. The WACC required for the estimated 
recoverable amount to equal the carrying amount of Axelos is 25.4%. The reduction in the projected revenue required 
for the recoverable amount to equal the carrying amount of Axelos is -35.9%. 

IASSC Goodwill 

The goodwill that resulted from the acquisition of IASSC in 2020 was initially determined at US$1,522,000 
(GB£1,170,769). Based on the impairment testing conducted by Management as of 31 December 2022 an impairment 
loss of GB£772,107 was recognized. IASSC goodwill amounts to GB£734,297 after being retranslated to the reporting 
currency GBP as of 31 December 2024.  

On 27 September 2024, the merger of group entities IASSC LLC and DevOps Institute Inc. was completed. The new 
combined entity was renamed to PeopleCert US LLC. The goodwill that resulted from the acquisition of IASSC in 2021 
has not been affected in this respect, since the relevant CGU to which it relates, has been determined on group level 
and remains unchanged. 

IASSC cashflows are generated through group entities, and therefore, IASSC product line is treated as a single CGU, 
and impairment testing is conducted at this level.  

The key assumptions used in current year for the value-in-use calculations for IASSC are as follows: Discount rate 
(WACC) 16.40%, sales 6-year average growth rate 9.4% and growth rate in perpetuity 1.5%. Based on the assessment 
performed by Management, during the annual impairment testing, the recoverable amount of the CGU estimated 
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exceeds the carrying amount as of 31 December 2024 and therefore no impairment is required as of 31 December 
2024. 

Management has identified that the carrying amount could exceed the relevant recoverable amount following a possible 
change in the assumption of the discount rate (WACC). The WACC required for the estimated recoverable amount to 
equal the carrying amount of IASSC is 24.33%. The reduction in the projected revenue required for the recoverable 
amount to equal the carrying amount of IASSC is -25.55%. 

11. Other investments 

The Other investments are analyzed as follows:  

 

The acquisitions in the previous year concern a convertible loan note of GB£173,810 and other various investments in 
venture capitals of GB£84,171. The additions in the current year of GB£215,547 concern further investments in venture 
capitals. The investments in venture capitals consist of various investments of minor shareholdings below 20% each 
and are not held for trading. 
 

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
GB£ GB£

Balance at 1 January                    257,981 -                          
Additions                    215,547 257,981                   
Exchange differences                     (16,427) -                          
Balance at 31 December 457,101                   257,981                   
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11.1 Investments in subsidiaries  

The details of the Group subsidiaries are as follows: 

 

 

On 29 July 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the shares of Axelos Limited. Further to this, in June 2021, three new 
entities were established; PeopleCert Wisdom Limited, PeopleCert Wisdom Issuer Plc and PeopleCert Wisdom 
Holdings Limited for the purposes of Axelos acquisition. 

On 17 February 2023, the Group acquired 100% of the shares of DevOps Institute Inc.. 

On 11 March 2024, the Group acquired 99.99% of the shares of DP Cube Learning And Skills Private Ltd., an entity 
incorporated in India. The entity was renamed to DPC LanguageCert India Private Ltd. after the acquisition. 

On 10 June 2024, the Group set up two new subsidiaries; PeopleCert Switzerland Holding AG and PeopleCert 
Switzerland AG, both incorporated in Switzerland. 

 

% %
PeopleCert International Limited Cyprus Design, development, management, 

control and support of personnel, 
certification programs, and support of 
Automated Examination Systems

100              -               

PeopleCert Hellas S.A. Greece Design, development, management, 
control and support of Personnel 
Certification Programs and design, 
development and support of Automated 
Examination Systems

-               99.99

PeopleCert Global Services S.A. Greece Design, development, management, 
control, and support of personnel 
certification programs and automated 
examination systems

-               99.99

PeopleCert UK Ltd United Kingdom Personnel Certification -               100               
PeopleCert Qualifications Limited United Kingdom Personnel Certification -               100               
PeopleCert Personel Belgenendirme A.S. Turkey Personnel Certification -               100               
PeopleCert Educational S.A. Greece Education -               99.98
DevOps Institute Inc (*) United States of 

America
Design, development and management 
of global best practice methodologies in 
project, program and portfolio 
management, and IT and digitally 
enabled services

-               100               

IASSC International Association for Six Sigma 
Certification LLC (*)

United States of 
America

Personnel Certification -               100               

PeopleCert US LLC United States of 
America

Personnel Certification -               100               

PeopleCert Wisdom Issuer Plc United Kingdom Special purposes finance company 100              -               
PeopleCert Switzerland Holding AG Switzerland Holding Company -               100               
PeopleCert Switzerland AG Switzerland IP Holding Company -               100               
DPC LanguageCert India Private Ltd. India Personnel Certification -               99.99            
Axelos Limited United Kingdom Design, development and management 

of global best practice methodologies in 
project, program and portfolio 
management, and IT and digitally 
enabled services

100              -               

Pei Si Te Assessment Technology (Beijing) Co 
Limited

China Management and Administration 
Services

-               100               

(*) Companies merged on 27 September 2024 - see below

Name Country of 
incorporation

Principal activities Direct 
Holding

Indirect 
Holding
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On 27 September 2024, the merger of group entities IASSC LLC and DevOps Institute Inc. was completed. The new 
combined entity was renamed to PeopleCert US LLC. 

The subsidiaries PeopleCert International Ltd, PeopleCert Educational S.A., PeopleCert Hellas S.A., PeopleCert 
Global Services S.A., PeopleCert UK Ltd, PeopleCert Qualifications Ltd, Axelos Limited, PeopleCert Personel 
Belgenendirme A.S, PeopleCert US LLC, PeopleCert Wisdom Issuer Ltd, PeopleCert Switzerland Holding AG, 
PeopleCert Switzerland AG and DPC LanguageCert India Private Ltd. have been consolidated as of 31 December 
2024.  

 

  

12. Trade and other receivables  

 

The concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables is limited due to the Group's large number of 
customers. The Group's historical experience in the collection of accounts receivable falls within the recorded 
allowances. Due to these factors, the Directors believe that no additional credit risk beyond the amounts provided for 
collections losses is inherent in the Group's trade receivables. 

Deposits and prepayments include fees provided to suppliers for products and services which will be delivered after 
the year end. 

The Group does not hold any collateral over the trading balances. 

Movement in provision for impairment of receivables: 

 

The fair values of trade and other receivables due within one year approximate to their carrying amounts as presented 
above. 

The exposure of the Group to credit risk and impairment losses in relation to trade and other receivables is reported in 
note 37 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.  

 

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
GB£ GB£

Trade receivables 11,755,209               10,236,785               
Trade receivables from related parties (Note 33.3) 1,045,149                 907,656                    
Less: credit loss on trade receivables (927,857)                   (733,826)                   
Trade receivables - net 11,872,501               10,410,615               
Shareholders' current accounts - debit balances (Note 33.5) 490,652                    487,538                    
Directors' current accounts - debit balances (Note 33.4) 155,924                    72,763                      
Deposits and prepayments 2,656,223                 1,972,509                 
Other receivables 513,670                    585,597                    
Refundable VAT 1,630,674                 968,608                    

17,319,643               14,497,631               

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
GB£ GB£

Balance at the beginning of the period 733,826                      754,884                    
Net movement in bad debt provision 220,935                      (8,972)                       
Exchange difference (26,904)                       (12,086)                     
Balance at the end of the period 927,857                      733,826                    



Peoplecert Wisdom Ltd 
 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
31 December 2024 
 

53 

 

12.1 Financial assets at FVTPL 

 

During the year, the Group acquired listed equity investments amounting to GB£2,968,542. These investments 
represent holdings of less than 20% in each entity and are held for trading purposes. In accordance with IFRS 9, they 
have been classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

13. Inventory 

 

Following Axelos’s acquisition, hard copy books are available for purchase through PeopleCert. 

14. Cash and cash equivalents 

 
 
Cash equivalents mainly include an amount of GB£7,998,885 (2023: GB£7,887,514) that represents US treasury bills 
and an amount of GB£63,888 (2023: GB£198,613) that represents cash held in merchant accounts. The US treasury 
bills, which were acquired by the Group in 2023 and offer an annual yield of 4.50%, are highly liquid investments subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement, the cash and cash equivalents include the following: 

 

 

The exposure of the Group to credit risk and impairment losses in relation to cash and cash equivalents is reported in 
note 37 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

GB£ GB£
Balance at 1 January                         -   -                     
Additions            2,968,542 -                     
Fair value adjustments (Note 34)               209,283 -                     
Exchange differences               (67,695) -                     
Balance at 31 December 3,110,130          -                     

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
GB£ GB£

Finished goods 228,947 260,288
228,947 260,288

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
GB£ GB£

Cash in hand 835,639 881,954
Cash at bank 97,216,598 69,316,573
Cash equivalents 8,096,427 8,086,127

106,148,664 78,284,655

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
GB£ GB£

Cash and cash equivalents 106,148,664 78,284,655
106,148,664 78,284,655
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15. Share capital and share premium 

 
 

Authorised capital 

On 21 June 2021, the authorised share capital of the Company was 1 ordinary share of GB£1. 

On 22 July 2021, the Company issued 3 ordinary shares for a total consideration of GB£140,058,343. This subscription 
increased share capital by GB£3 and created a share premium of GB£140,058,339. 

Issued capital 

Upon incorporation on 1 June 2021, the Company issued 1 ordinary share of GB£1 at par. As at 31 December 2024, 
the issued capital of the Group is 4 shares of GB£1 each. 

16. Other reserves  

 
 

The merger reserve relates to PeopleCert International Limited in 2016 of GB£386,633 (€495,002), the acquisition of 
PeopleCert Hellas S.A. of GB£50,022 (€60,000) in 2012 and PeopleCert Personel Belgenendirme A.S of GB£59,858 
(€74,248.49) in 2014. 

Merger reserve is the difference between the cost of acquiring an investment in subsidiary and the acquired 
subsidiary's net assets book value. 

Exchange differences relating to the translation of the net assets of the Group's foreign operations from their functional 
currencies to the Group's presentation currency (i.e. British pounds) are recognised directly in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve. Exchange differences previously accumulated in 
the foreign currency translation reserve are reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal or partial disposal of the foreign 
operation. 

2024 2024 2023 2023

Number of 
shares

GB£ Number of 
shares

GB£

Authorised
Ordinary shares 4                         4                         4                         4                         

Issued and fully paid
Ordinary shares of GB£1 each 4                         4                         4                         4                         
Balance at 31 December 2024 4                         4                         4                         4                         

Recognised 
actuarial gains/ 

(losses)

Merger Reserve Translation 
reserve

Total

GB£ GB£ GB£ GB£
Balance at 1 January 2023 (18,944)                 496,513                 8,942,781              9,420,350              
Foreign operations - foreign currency translation 
differences -                        -                        (3,241,759)            (3,241,759)            

Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plan 6,910                     -                        -                        6,910                     
Related tax (1,520)                   -                        -                        (1,520)                   
Balance at 31 December 2023 / 1 January 2024 (13,555)                 496,513                 5,701,022              6,183,980              
Foreign operations - foreign currency translation 
differences -                        -                        (9,103,785)            (9,103,785)            

Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plan 1,138                     -                        -                        1,138                     
Related tax (250)                      -                        -                        (250)                      
Balance at 31 December 2024 (12,667)                 496,513                 (3,402,763)            (2,918,917)            
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17. Borrowings  
 

 
 
   

On 27 July 2021, the Group entered into a bridge facility agreement and on 29 July 2021 received a financing of an 
aggregate principal amount of the euro equivalent of GB£250 million to fund the consideration payable for the Axelos 
acquisition (the “Axelos Bridge Facility”). 

On 5 August 2021, the Group’s subsidiary PeopleCert Wisdom Issuer Plc priced an offering of €300 million aggregate 
principal amount of 53/4 % senior secured notes due in 2026 (the “Notes”) at an issue price of 100.0% (the “offering”). 
The proceeds of the offering of the Notes were used by the Issuer to make the Axelos Funding Loan to the Parent 
Guarantor, PeopleCert Wisdom Limited, and the latter used these proceeds to repay the Axelos Bridge Facility. 

On 5 August 2021, the gross proceeds from the Offering of €300 million (GB£255 million) were used to repay the 
bridge financing of GB£250 million, and the Group’s existing debt of GB£1.7 million. 

 

 
 
 
Maturity of non-current borrowings:  

 

The bond loan is dominated in Euro. 

The Notes are guaranteed on a senior secured basis by group companies PeopleCert Wisdom Ltd, PeopleCert 
International Limited, Axelos Limited, PeopleCert UK Ltd, PeopleCert Hellas S.A., PeopleCert Global Services S.A., 
PeopleCert Qualifications Ltd and PeopleCert Educational S.A.. 

The Notes will mature on 15 September 2026 unless redeemed prior thereto. Each Note bears interest at a rate per 
annum of 5.75% and is payable semi-annually on 15 March and 15 September of each year, commencing on 15 
March 2022. 

The weighted average effective interest rates at the reporting date were as follows: 

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

GB£ GB£
Balance at 1 January         265,134,752          270,466,694 
Interest charged for the year           14,470,616            15,000,751 
Repayments of interest          (14,647,788)           (14,982,015)
Exchange differences (11,957,191)                     (5,350,678)
Balance at 31 December 253,000,389        265,134,752         

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

GB£ GB£
Current borrowings 
Bank overdrafts                  11,223 14,302                  
Secured senior notes             4,232,947 4,409,578             

            4,244,170              4,423,880 

Non current borrowings 
Secured senior notes         248,756,219 260,710,872         
Total 253,000,389        265,134,752         

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

GB£ GB£
Within one year                         -   -                      
Between one and five years        248,756,219 260,710,872       

       248,756,219        260,710,872 
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18. Lease liabilities  
 

 

All lease obligations are denominated in Euro except from the leases related to PeopleCert UK Ltd which are 
denominated in GBP. 

The fair values of lease obligations approximate to their carrying amounts as presented above. 

19. Deferred tax  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following: 

 
 

Movement in deferred tax during the year: 

  

2024 2023
% %

Secured senior notes 5.75 5.75

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2024 2023 2024 2023
GB£ GB£ GB£ GB£

No later than 1 year           1,022,912           1,087,051              924,738           1,000,787 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years           2,166,871           2,657,603           1,750,920           2,186,090 
Later than 5 years           1,321,719           1,717,698           1,064,910           1,289,918 

4,511,502          5,462,352          3,740,567          4,476,796          
Future finance charges             (770,935)             (985,557)                        -                          -   
Present value of lease liabilities 3,740,567          4,476,796          3,740,567          4,476,796          

Present value of minimum lease 
payments

Minimum lease payments

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

GB£ GB£ GB£ GB£ GB£ GB£
Property, plant & equipment                      -                        -               (95,960)             (96,271)             (95,960)             (96,271)
Intangible assets             180,010             291,302        (7,727,494)        (9,568,166)        (7,547,484)        (9,276,864)
Employee benefits               42,198               30,141                    184               (2,291)               42,382               27,850 
Other               18,626               16,519             (36,647)                    296             (18,021)               16,816 
Net deferred tax assets / (liabilities)             240,834             337,962        (7,859,918)        (9,666,431)        (7,619,083)        (9,328,469)

Assets Liabilities Net assets / (liabilities)

1 January 
2024

Recognized in 
profit and loss

Recognized in 
equity

31 December 2024

GB£ GB£ GB£ GB£
Property, plant & equipment                     (96,271)                           311                              -                       (95,960)
Intangible assets                (9,276,864)                 1,729,380                              -                  (7,547,484)
Employee benefits                      27,850                      14,782                          (250)                      42,382 
Other                      16,816                     (34,837)                              -                       (18,021)
Net deferred tax assets / (liabilities)                (9,328,469)                 1,709,635                          (250)                (7,619,084)
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20. Trade and other payables  

  
Accrued expenses mainly concern Business Development Managers’ commissions and fees and staff bonuses. 

21. Deferred income  

 

Deferred income concerns membership subscriptions and accreditations fees. 

22. Current tax liabilities  

 
 

23. Revenue  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
GB£ GB£

Trade payables                     3,423,707                     4,302,538 
Payables to related parties (Note 33.2)                     1,275,003                     1,150,000 
Prepayments from clients                     1,134,233                     1,265,381 
Social insurance and other taxes                     1,244,676                     1,136,715 
Staff costs accrued                        118,566                        165,743 
Accruals                     2,930,448                     2,343,600 
Other creditors                        372,135                        351,240 

                  10,498,768                   10,715,217 

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
GB£ GB£

Deferred income 3,479,326 2,970,367
3,479,326 2,970,367

31 December 31 December

2024 2023
GB£ GB£

Income Tax payable 5,414,930 1,828,475
5,414,930 1,828,475

1 January to 31 
December 2024

1 January to 31 
December 2024

GB£ GB£
Business and IT Qualifications 108,913,297              107,215,539 
Language Qualifications 12,014,355                13,013,525 

120,927,652              120,229,064 
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24. Cost of sales   

 
(*) Comparative figures for the year 2023 have been restated - refer further to note 38. 

25. Other income  

 

Government grants concern subsidies provided by the government on the social security contributions of new hirings. 

26. Selling and distribution expenses   

 
(*) Comparative figures for the year 2023 have been restated - refer further to note 38. 

1 January to 31 
December 2024

1 January to 31 
December 2023

Restated*
GB£ GB£

Staff costs (Note 28) 6,366,629              7,852,239 
Exam supervision and testing program expenses              2,229,669              2,274,902 
Royalty fees                 134,003                 126,439 
Commissions payable                 376,052                 349,735 
Accreditation costs                 247,720                 198,155 
Training costs                           -                       2,886 
Courseware costs                     4,584                     5,373 
Publishing & book costs                 771,561                 896,264 
Rent                     4,988                     5,778 
Research & development costs                 417,944                 640,102 
Amortisation (Note 10)            13,641,466            13,109,336 
Other direct costs              2,512,495              3,031,393 

           26,707,111            28,492,603 

1 January to 31 
December 2024

1 January to 31 
December 2023

GB£ GB£
Government grants 65,236                    58,693                    
Rental income 5,704                      5,869                      
Other operating income 31,802                    23,359                    

102,742                  87,921                    

1 January to 31 
December 2024

1 January to 31 
December 2023

Restated*

GB£ GB£
Staff costs (Note 28)                 6,685,026                 8,176,455 
Customer acquisition costs                 3,117,191                 1,870,029 
Sales consultants fees                 4,178,233                 3,645,196 
Marketing costs                 2,482,850                 2,465,961 
Travel & entertainment costs                    978,592                    986,619 
Customer balances write off                             -                      104,388 
Bad debt provision charge/(reversal)                    220,935                      (8,972)
Other costs                    484,994                    647,723 

              18,147,820               17,887,397 
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27. Administration expenses   

 
(*) Comparative figures for the year 2023 have been restated - refer further to note 38. 

Legal fees aside dealing with legal issues, include the preparation of agreements, evaluation of agreements with third 
parties and correspondence with banks. Other professional fees are mainly for the provision of support and guidance 
of strategic business decisions of the company and facilitation of key projects for Business & IT and Languages 
qualifications. 

28. Staff costs  

  

 
Sundry allowances include insurance and other benefits provided to the employees. 

(*) Comparative figures for the year 2023 have been restated - refer further to note 38. 

 

1 January to 31 
December 2024

1 January to 31 
December 2023

Restated*

GB£ GB£
Staff costs (Note 28)                    5,239,824                    6,065,933 
Travel & entertainment costs                    3,016,663                    2,466,822 
Occupancy costs                    1,106,285                       994,546 
Accounting fees                       431,657                       607,179 
Legal fees                       932,416                    1,083,808 
Other professional fees                       742,645                    1,295,257 
Auditors' remuneration for audit services                       171,940                       174,650 
Auditors' remuneration for other non-audit services                           5,624                           8,320 
Directors' fees                       215,290                       198,187 
Taxes & Duties (excl. income tax)                       208,897                       269,746 
IT Services                    4,602,342                    3,890,390 
ESG                       639,110                       324,824 
Depreciation (Notes 8, 9)                    1,884,310                    1,704,701 
Other costs                    2,642,693                    2,490,045 

                 21,839,697                  21,574,407 

1 January to 31 
December 2024

1 January to 31 
December 2023

Restated*
GB£ GB£

Salaries                   14,061,632                   17,435,359 
Social security costs                     3,319,339                     3,636,418 
Sundry allowances                        846,722                        912,912 
Expenses related to defined benefit plans 
(Note 29)                          63,786                        109,938 

                  18,291,478                   22,094,627 

Average number of employees 
(including Directors in their executive capacity) 778 869
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29. Employee benefits  

The Group provides retirement benefits in the form of lump sum amounts based on a fixed benefit retirement plan to 
its employees. The Group's policy is to carry out on an annual basis an independent actuarial valuation of the liabilities 
with regard to the retirement benefit scheme. 

The most recent actuarial valuation was prepared as of 31 December 2024 and it was based on the following 
assumptions: 

 

 
During the year an amount of GB£67,191 (2023: GB£111,597) was charged to profit or loss as follows: 

 
The movement in the accumulated provision with respect to the retirement plan liabilities is as follows:  

 

Sensitivity analysis 

Actuarial gains/ (losses) if the assumption for interest rate and salary increase rate would change by 0,5%: 

 

 

1 January to 31 
December 2024

1 January to 31 
December 2023

Discount rate 2,93% 3.08%
Expected salary increase rate 2,20% 2.20%
Price inflation 2,00% 2.10%

1 January to 31 
December 2024

1 January to 31 
December 2023

GB£ GB£
Current service cost                 35,151                 33,172 
Past service cost                 28,635                 76,766 
Interest cost                   3,404                   1,659 

67,191 111,597

1 January to 31 
December 2024

1 January to 31 
December 2023

GB£ GB£
Balance at 1 January               113,635                 95,269 
Current service cost                 35,151                 33,172 
Past service cost                 28,635                 76,766 
Interest cost                   3,404                   1,659 
Actuarial (gain) / losses  from changes in financial assumptions                   1,488               (10,135)

Actuarial (gain) / losses  from changes in demographic assumptions                      701                 (3,280)

Actuarial (gain) / losses  from changes in experience                 (3,327)                   6,505 
Benefits paid               (23,622)               (84,384)
Exchange differences                 (6,117)                 (1,937)
Balance at 31 December 149,949 113,635

GB£
Interest rate increase by 0,5%                   5,763 
Interest rate decrease by 0,5%                 (4,030)
Payrise increase by 0,5%                 (4,041)
Payrise decrease by 0,5%                   5,818 
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30. Net finance result 

 
The interest income in 2024 of GB£3,184,000 includes interest income, mainly from time deposits, of GB£2,828,221 
(2023: GB£661,764) and interest coupons received during the year from the US Treasury Bills held of GB£355,809 
(2023: nil).  
The net foreign exchange gains in 2024 (GB£19,783,438) have increased significantly from 2023 (GB£6,704,200), 
primarily due to the strengthening of the British pound against the Euro from 2023 to 2024. The same factor has 
positively impacted on the interest expense (GB£14,484,584 in 2024 vs.GB£15,000,751 in 2023), as this line mainly 
includes the interest coupons of the bond loan which are originally denominated in Euro. 

31. Income tax expense  

 
The Group entities operate across various jurisdictions subject to different income tax rates with the main ones being 
as follows: 

 

The UK rate applicable since 1 April 2023 has increased from 19% to 25%.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 1 January to 31 
December 2024

1 January to 31 
December 2023

GB£ GB£
Interest income             3,184,030                661,764 
Net foreign exchange gains           19,783,438             6,704,200 
Finance income           22,967,468             7,365,964 

Interest expense           14,484,584           15,000,751 
Interest expense on lease liabilities                211,798                221,406 
Sundry finance expenses             1,397,551             1,446,097 
Finance costs           16,093,934           16,668,253 

Net finance income/ costs             6,873,534             9,302,289 

1 January to 31 
December 2024

1 January to 31 
December 2023

GB£ GB£
Current tax               (5,941,461)               (3,883,124)
Deferred tax (Note 19)                1,709,635                2,064,250 
Prior year income taxes                  (386,364)                2,561,766 
(Expense)/ Income for the year               (4,618,188)                   742,892 

1 January to 31 
December 2024

1 January to 31 
December 2023

                          %                           %
• Cyprus 12.5 12.5
• Greece 22 22
• United Kingdom 25 23.5
• United States 21 21
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Reconciliation of effective tax rate 

 
The prior year taxes in 2023 of GB£2,561,766 relate mainly to a tax benefit in order to properly account in 2023 for the 
post-closing differences in the current income taxes of 2022 of the group subsidiaries, and which arose due to 
circumstances that could not be foreseen during the preparation of the Group Financial Statements of year 2022. 

32. Dividends  

 

 
On 31 January 2024, the Company declared in the General Meeting the payment of interim dividends of 
GB£6,700,000. 

On 10 March 2025, the Board of Directors of the Company approved payment of a final 2024 dividend of 
GB£5,350,000. The dividend is being paid in connection with a dividend of the same amount by the indirect parent 
company, PeopleCert Holdings UK Limited (“PCHUK”), which was approved by the Board of PCHUK on 19 December 
2024. The dividend declared in March 2025 has been properly accounted for in the financial year 2025, in accordance 
with IFRS requirements, as the relevant resolution took place in 2025. 

Regarding the prior year, on 12 January 2023, the Company declared in the Shareholders’ General Meeting the 
payment of a final dividend of GB£7,350,000 and further to that, on 26 September 2023, an additional dividend of 
GB£1,150,000.  

As at 31 December 2024, the outstanding balance of dividends payable is GB£1,150,000. 

33. Related party transactions  

The Group is directly controlled by PeopleCert Wisdom Holdings Ltd, incorporated in the United Kingdom in 2021. 

The Group's ultimate controlling party is Mr. Anastasios Byron Nicolaides. 

1 January to 31 
December 2024

1 January to 31 
December 2023

GB£ GB£
Profit before tax              57,999,018              42,918,117 

Tax using the Company's domestic tax rate              14,499,755 10,729,544.25
Effect of tax rate in foreign jurisdictions               (6,873,526)               (6,210,624)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax 
purposes                   448,613                   793,235 

Tax effect of allowances and income not subject to 
tax               (3,741,887)               (3,453,665)

Group tax relief surrendered/ (claimed)                  (101,131)                    (39,616)
Prior year tax expense/ (income)                   386,364               (2,561,766)

Tax expense/ (income) for the year                4,618,188                  (742,892)

1 January to 31 
December 2024

1 January to 31 
December 2023

GB£ GB£
Dividends declared                6,700,000                8,500,000 
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The following transactions were carried out with related parties: 

33.1 Key management compensation  
 
The remuneration of Directors and other members of key management was as follows: 
 

  

33.2 Payables to related parties (Note 20) 

 

The amount payable on 31 December 2024 relates mainly to dividends payable of GB£ 1,150,000 (31 December 2023: 
GB£1,150,000).  

33.3 Receivables from related parties (Note 12) 

 
The balances with related parties are interest free, unsecured, and have no specified repayment date. 

33.4 Directors’ current accounts – debit balances (Note 12) 

 

The balances to related parties were provided interest free, and there was no specified repayment date. 

33.5 Shareholders' current accounts - debit balances (Note 12)  

 

1 January to 31 
December 2024

1 January to 31 
December 2023

GB£ GB£
Directors' fees (Note 27)              215,290              198,187 
Directors' remuneration              105,823              126,538 
Directors' social insurance and other contributions                13,774                10,752 

             334,888              335,477 

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
GB£ GB£

PeopleCert Wisdom Holdings Ltd. 1,275,003 1,150,000
1,275,003 1,150,000

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
GB£ GB£

PeopleCert Holdings UK Ltd 1,045,149              861,360                 
PeopleCert Holdings Europe Ltd -                        39,324                   
PeopleCert Wisdom Holdings Ltd -                        6,972                     

1,045,149              907,656                 

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
GB£ GB£

Directors' current account 155,924 72,763
155,924 72,763

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
GB£ GB£

Shareholders' current account 490,652 487,538
490,652 487,538
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The shareholders’ current account is interest free and has no specified repayment date. 

34. Other expenses 

 

The FV (gains)/ losses from the remeasurement of financial assets at FVTPL of GB£209,283 in 2024 resulted from the 
listed equity shares that the Group acquired in 2024. Other expenses of GB£3,419,563 in 2024 primarily comprise 
acquisition-related costs, such as legal, consultancy and other professional fees, incurred in connection with acquisition 
plans that did not materialize. 

35. Other non-current liabilities  

Based on the purchase agreement with Red Stake Inc. (former shareholder of IASSC), an additional consideration is 
due for each six-month period (i) from and including January 1 through and including June 30 and (ii) from and including 
July 1 through and including December 31 of each calendar year, beginning with the 2022 calendar year through and 
including the 2025 calendar year of an amount equal to (a) 12.5% multiplied by (b) company revenue for the applicable 
period less the digital spend for the applicable period. 

IASSC is expected to achieve the required threshold that entitles the Seller to receive earnout consideration, therefore 
the respective contingent consideration, as initially recognized upon the acquisition, was recognized as a liability as of 
31 December 2021. The relevant balance of GB£367k as of 31 December 2024 has been reclassified under trade and 
other payables from other non-current liabilities as of 31 December 2023. 

 

36. Commitments  

The Group had no capital or other commitments as at 31 December 2024. 

37. Financial risk management  

Financial risk factors 
The Group is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk, currency risk, compliance risk, reputation risk and capital risk 
management arising from the financial instruments it holds. The risk management policies employed by the Group to 
manage these risks are discussed below: 

37.1 Credit risk  
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to 
meet an obligation. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, contractual cash flows of debt investments 
carried at amortised cost, at FVOCI and at FVTPL and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit 
exposures to wholesale and retail customers, including outstanding receivables and contract assets as well as lease 
receivables. Further, credit risk arises from financial guarantees and credit related commitments. 

(i) Risk management 

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. For banks and financial institutions, the Group has established policies 
whereby the majority of bank balances are held with independently rated parties. 

If wholesale customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, 
Management assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and 

1 January to 31 
December 2024

1 January to 31 
December 2023

GB£ GB£
FV (gains)/ losses from remeasurement of financial 
assets at FVTPL (Note 12.1)                       (209,283)                                  -   

Other expenses                     3,419,563                        142,172 
                    3,210,280                        142,172 
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other factors. Individual credit limits and credit terms are set based on the credit quality of the customer in accordance 
with limits set by the Board of Directors. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored. Sales to retail customers 
are settled in cash or using major credit cards. 

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk, whether through exposure to individual customers, specific 
industry sectors and/or regions. 

The Group's investments in debt instruments are considered to be low risk investments. The credit ratings of the 
investments are monitored for credit deterioration. 

These policies enable the Group to reduce its credit risk significantly. 

(ii) Impairment of financial assets 

The Group has the following types of financial assets that are subject to the expected credit loss model: 
- trade receivables and contract assets 
- financial assets at amortised cost 
- financial assets carried at FVOCI 
- cash and cash equivalents 
- other receivables 
- receivables from related parties 

The impairment methodology applied by the Group for calculating expected credit losses depends on the type of 
financial asset assessed for impairment. Specifically:  

- For trade receivables the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires lifetime 
expected losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the financial assets.  

- For all other financial assets that are subject to impairment under IFRS 9, the Group applies general 
approach - three stage model for impairment. The Group applies a three-stage model for impairment, based 
on changes in credit quality since initial recognition. A financial asset that is not credit-impaired on initial 
recognition is classified in Stage 1. Financial assets in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal 
to the portion of lifetime ECL that results from default events possible within the next 12 months or until 
contractual maturity, if shorter (''12 Months ECL''). If the Group identifies a significant increase in credit risk 
(''SICR'') since initial recognition, the asset is transferred to Stage 2 and its ECL is measured based on ECL 
on a lifetime basis, that is, up until contractual maturity but considering expected prepayments, if any 
(''Lifetime ECL''). If the Group determines that a financial asset is credit-impaired, the asset is transferred to 
Stage 3 and its ECL is measured as a Lifetime ECL.  

Impairment losses are presented as net impairment losses on financial and contract assets within operating profit. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the same line item. 

Significant increase in credit risk 

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of the asset and whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. To assess whether there is a 
significant increase in credit risk the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial asset as at the 
reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and 
supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially the following indicators are incorporated: 

- internal credit rating  
- external credit rating (as far as available) 
- actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are 

expected to cause a significant change to the borrower's/counterparty's ability to meet its obligations  
- actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the borrower/counterparty 
- significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same borrower/counterparty 
- significant changes in the value of the collateral supporting the obligation or in the quality of third-party 

guarantees or credit enhancements 
- significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour of the borrower/counterparty, including 

changes in the payment status of counterparty in the Group and changes in the operating results of the 
borrower/counterparty. 

Macroeconomic information (such as market interest rates or growth rates) is incorporated as part of the internal rating 
model. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic 
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factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. The Group has identified the GDP and the 
unemployment rate of the countries in which it sells its goods and services to be the most relevant factors and 
accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based on expected changes in these factors. No significant changes to 
estimation techniques or assumptions were made during the reporting period. 

Low credit risk 

The Group has decided to use the low credit risk assessment exemption for investment grade financial assets. 
Management consider 'low credit risk' for listed bonds to be an investment grade credit rating with at least one major 
rating agency. Other instruments are considered to be low credit risk when they have a low risk of default and the 
issuer has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term. 

Default 

A default on a financial asset is when the counterparty fails to make contractual payments within 90 days of when they 
fall due. 

Write-off 

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage 
in a repayment plan with the Group. The Group categorises a debt financial asset for write off when a debtor fails to 
make contractual payments greater than 180 days past due. Where debt financial assets have been written off, the 
Group continues to engage in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivable due. Where recoveries are 
made, these are recognised in profit or loss. 

Trade receivables and contract assets 

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected 
loss allowance for all trade receivables (including those with a significant financing component, and contract assets. 

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped based on shared 
credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and have 
substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the same types of contracts. The Group has 
therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates 
for the contract assets. 

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 36 months before 31 December 
2021 or 1 January 2021 respectively and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. The 
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting 
the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.  

The expected credit loss on trade receivables is not significant as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023. 

Financial assets at amortised cost, debt investments carried at FVOCI 

All of the entity's debt investments at amortised cost and FVOCI are considered to have low credit risk, and the loss 
allowance recognised during the year was therefore limited to 12 months expected losses. Refer to section above for 
a description of how the Group determines low credit risk financial assets. 

There were no significant financial assets at amortised costs and debt investments carried at FVOCI written off during 
the year that are subject to enforcement activity. 

The Group does not hold any collateral as security for any financial assets at amortised cost and debt investments 
carried at FVOCI balances. 
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A summary of the assumptions underpinning the Group's expected credit loss model is as follows: 

 
 
Category  Group definition of category Basis for recognition of 

expected credit loss 
provision 

Basis for calculation of 
interest revenue 

Performing Counterparties have a low risk 
of default and a strong capacity 
to meet contractual cash flows 

Stage 1: 12 month 
expected losses. Where the 
expected lifetime of an 
asset is less than 12 
months, expected losses 
are measured at its 
expected lifetime. 

Gross carrying amount 

Underperforming Counterparties for which there 
is a significant increase in 
credit risk; as significant 
increase in credit risk is 
presumed if interest and/or 
principal repayments are 30 
days past due (see above in 
more detail) 

Stage 2: Lifetime expected 
losses 

Gross carrying amount 

Non-performing Interest and/or principal 
repayments are 90 days past 
due 

Stage 3: Lifetime expected 
losses 

Amortised cost carrying 
amount (net of credit 
allowance) 

Write-off Interest and/or principal 
repayments are 180 days past 
due and there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovery. 

Asset is written off None 

Receivables from related parties 

For receivables from related parties lifetime ECL was provided for them upon initial application of IFRS 9 until these 
financial assets are derecognised as it was determined on initial application of IFRS 9 that it would require undue cost 
and effort to determine whether their credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition to the date of initial 
application of IFRS 9. 

For any new loans to related parties, which are not purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the 
impairment loss is recognised as 12-month ECL on initial recognition of such instruments and subsequently the Group 
assesses whether there was a significant increase in credit risk. 

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk on these assets as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 was 
nil. 

The Group does not hold any collateral as security for any receivables from related parties. 

There were no significant receivables from related parties written off during the year that are subject to enforcement 
activity. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

The Group assesses, on a group basis, its exposure to credit risk arising from cash at bank. This assessment takes 
into account, ratings from external credit rating institutions and internal ratings, if external are not available. 

Bank deposits held with banks with investment grade rating are considered as low credit risk. 

The ECL on current accounts is considered to be approximate to nil, unless the bank is subject to capital controls. The 
ECL on deposits accounts is calculated by considering published PDs for the rating as per Moody's and an LGD of 
40-60% as published by ECB. 
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The Group does not hold any collateral as security for any cash at bank balances. 

There were no significant cash at bank balances written off during the year that are subject to enforcement activity. 

(iii) Credit related commitments 

The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a borrower as required. Guarantees 
which represent irrevocable assurances that the Group will make payments in the event that a counterparty cannot 
meet its obligations to third parties, carry the same credit risk as loans receivable. Commitments to extend credit 
represent unused portions of authorisations to extend credit in the form of loans or guarantees. With respect to credit 
risk on commitments to extend credit, the Group is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused 
commitments, if the unused amounts were to be drawn down. The Group monitors the term to maturity of credit related 
commitments, because longer-term commitments generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-term 
commitments. 

Credit quality of financial assets  
 

The credit quality of financials assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external 
credit ratings (if applicable) or to historical information about counterparty default rates: 

 

  
 
 

 

The rest of the consolidated statement of financial position item ''Cash and cash equivalents'' is cash in hand. 

Group 1 - new customers (less than 6 months). 

Group 2 - existing customers (more than 6 months) with no defaults in the past. 

Group 3 - existing customers (more than 6 months) with some defaults in the past. All defaults were fully recovered. 

1 January to 31 
December 2024

1 January to 31 
December 2023

Fully performing trade receivables GB£ GB£
Counterparties without external credit rating
Group 1                       47,073                       98,986 
Group 2                10,780,279                  9,403,973 
Group 4                  1,045,149                     907,656 
Group 5                     646,576                     560,302 

Total fully performing trade receivables                12,519,077                10,970,917 

Cash at bank and short-term bank deposits 1 January to 31 
December 2024

1 January to 31 
December 2023

GB£ GB£
A+/A1                10,751,318                  9,562,002 
A-/A3                84,686,859                45,451,864 
B+/B1                  1,241,664                     745,154 
BB/Ba2                     273,288                     291,476 
BBB+/Baa1                         3,421                13,231,408 
BBB/Baa2                     128,767                       34,658 
BBB-/Baa3                     129,430                               -   
No rating                         1,889                              12 

               97,216,598                69,316,573 
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Group 4 - companies within the group, common control companies and associates with no defaults in the past. 

Group 5 - Directors, shareholders and key management personnel. 

None of the financial assets that are fully performing has been renegotiated. 

37.2 Liquidity risk  
Liquidity risk is the risk that arises when the maturity of assets and liabilities does not match. An unmatched position 
potentially enhances profitability but can also increase the risk of losses. The Group has procedures with the object of 
minimizing such losses such as maintaining sufficient cash and other highly liquid current assets and by having 
available an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. 
 

The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The tables have been 
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group 
can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. 
 

 

37.3 Currency risk  
Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. 
Currency risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a 
currency that is not the Group's measurement currency. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various 
currency exposures primarily with respect to the US Dollar, Euro, Australian Dollars and Japanese Yen. The Group's Board 
of Directors monitors the exchange rate fluctuations on a continuous basis and acts accordingly. 

 
The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the 
reporting date are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

More than
5 years

GB£ GB£ GB£ GB£ GB£ GB£
Secured senior notes (Note 17)        248,756,219        278,031,484        7,820,041           7,151,741        263,059,701                         -   
Lease liabilities (Note 18)            3,740,567            4,511,502                     -             1,022,912            2,166,871            1,321,719 
Trade and other payables (Note 20)          10,498,768          10,498,768      10,498,768                        -                           -                           -   

       262,995,555        293,041,754      18,318,809           8,174,653        265,226,573            1,321,719 

More than
5 years

GB£ GB£ GB£ GB£ GB£ GB£
Secured senior notes (Note 17)        260,710,872        306,359,658        8,171,599           7,495,438        290,692,622                         -   
Lease liabilities (Note 18)            4,476,796            5,462,352                     -             1,087,051            2,657,603            1,717,698 
Trade and other payables (Note 20)          10,715,217          10,715,217      10,715,217                        -                           -                           -   

       275,902,884        322,537,228      18,886,816           8,582,489        293,350,225            1,717,698 

2

‑

5 years

3 months or 
less

3 months or 
less31 December 2023 Carrying 

amounts
Contractual cash 

flows
Within 12 

months

31 December 2024 Carrying 
amounts

Contractual 
cash flows

Within 12 
months 2

‑

5 years

31 December 2024 31 December 2023 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
GBP GBP GBP GBP

Euro 251,555,217 263,662,700 16,528,683 10,363,376
United States Dollars 774,774 1,089,354 37,138,673 25,943,662
Australian Dollars 80,440 93,375 2,716,882 1,133,680
Japanese Yen 27,256 571,578 828,771 1,655,493
Other 50,050 113,501 284,081 18,873

252,487,738 265,530,509 57,497,090 39,115,085

Liabilities Assets
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Sensitivity analysis 

A 10% strengthening of the British pound against the following currencies at 31 December 2024 would have increased 
(decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in 
particular interest rates, remain constant. For a 10% weakening of the British pound against the relevant currency, 
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit and equity. 

 

37.4 Compliance risk  
Compliance risk is the risk of financial loss, including fines and other penalties, which arises from non-compliance with 
laws and regulations of the state. The risk is limited to a significant extent due to the supervision applied by the 
Compliance Officer, as well as by the monitoring controls applied by the Group. 

37.5 Capital risk management  
Capital includes equity shares and share premium, convertible preference shares and loan from parent company. 
 
The Group's objectives in managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order 
to provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, 
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. 

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. 
Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as total equity as 
shown on the statement of financial position plus net debt. 

The Group's capital and gearing ratio are as follows: 
 

 

38. Reclassifications 

Upon a thorough examination of the nature and classification of operating expenses, Management decided to proceed 
to certain reclassifications among cost of sales, selling and administration expenses in year 2023 published balances, 
as shown below.  Management believes this approach provides a fairer and more accurate presentation and enhances 

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
GBP GBP

Euro 21,366,049 23,027,211
United States Dollars                    (3,255,764)                    (2,203,076)
Australian Dollars                       (239,677)                         (94,573)
Japanese Yen                         (72,865)                         (98,538)

17,797,743 20,631,025

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
GB£ GB£

Total borrowings (Note 17)      253,000,389    265,134,752 
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 14)    (106,148,664)    (78,284,655)

Net debt      146,851,725    186,850,097 
Total equity      235,114,310    197,536,378 
Total capital 381,966,035 384,386,475

Gearing ratio 38.45% 48.61%
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comparability with the current year’s expense classification. 

 

 

 

More specifically, the amount of GB£5,475k reclassified to Cost of sales from Administration expenses concerns mainly 
staff costs (GB£2,884k) for the departments of product development, quality and operations, which are considered 
direct costs and not administrative, as previously reported. The amount reclassed under cost of sales relates also to 
books production costs (GB£613k), a business line launched by the Group in 2022 – part of these costs was previously 
reported as stationery under administration expenses. 

The amount of GB£2,294k transferred to Selling and Distribution expenses from Administration expenses concerns 
mainly staff costs (GB£3,763k) for departments directly associated with the selling and distribution process of goods/ 
services. 

39. Events after the reporting period 

On 10 March 2025, the Board of Directors of the Company approved payment of a final 2024 dividend of GB£5,350,000. 
The dividend is being paid in connection with a dividend of the same amount by the indirect parent company, 
PeopleCert Holdings UK Limited (“PCHUK”), which was approved by the Board of PCHUK on 19 December 2024. The 
dividend declared was paid out on 17 March 2025. 

Other than the above, there have been no circumstances or post balance sheet events, which require adjustment of or 
disclosure in the Consolidated Financial Statements or in the notes thereto. 

 
 
 

Cost of sales
As published As restated

1 January to 31 
December 2023 Reclassifications 1 January to 31 

December 2023
GB£ GB£ GB£

Staff costs                 4,967,804                 2,884,435                 7,852,239 
Publishing & book costs                    283,506                    612,758                    896,264 
Other reclassifications               17,766,132                 1,977,968               19,744,100 

              23,017,442                 5,475,161               28,492,603 

Selling and distribution expenses

As published As restated
1 January to 31 
December 2023 Reclassifications 1 January to 31 

December 2023
GB£ GB£ GB£

Staff costs                 4,413,646                 3,762,809                 8,176,455 
Other reclassifications               11,179,881                (1,468,939)                 9,710,942 

              15,593,527                 2,293,870               17,887,397 

Administration expenses
As published As restated

1 January to 31 
December 2023 Reclassifications 1 January to 31 

December 2023
GB£ GB£ GB£

Staff costs               14,269,882                (8,203,949)                 6,065,933 
Other reclassifications               15,073,556                    434,919               15,508,475 

              29,343,438                (7,769,030)               21,574,407 
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